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AHMED HAMOUD IBRAHIM ALTHEYAB
Chairman

We would like to thank “Zahrat Al Waha for Trading” management team and it’s 
employees for delivering and achieving a strong performance at year end 2019 which 
considered as a rewarding for the shareholders despite multiple headwinds in the 
global business environment. This performance was only possible to be achieved 
through a focused, competitive, and growing portfolio, which proceed on ongoing to 
create value for our customers globally through innovative and sustainable products, 
applications, and services as well.

CHAIRMAN INSIGHT

WE ACHIEVED 
EXCELLENT RETURNS FOR 
SHAREHOLDERS DURING 

2019
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Over the last years, The Company continued to change 
the way it has been operating amid the structural changes in 
external and internal business environments. A very focused 
and well-thought Transformation Program drives this change, 
and its execution has already started to deliver industry beating 
shareholders’ returns. 

Going forward, the business environment is becoming 
increasingly more volatile and challenging with issues of trade 
tensions, rising populism, slowing global growth, increasing 
debt levels, among others. The Company is already committed 
to address these challenges using its proven global innovation 
expertise in processes and products in the manufacture of 
PET preforms and HDPE closure (caps). At the same time, The 
Company will continue to execute objectives against its robust 
Transformation Program to further streamline its operating model, 
increase portfolio focus, boost competitiveness, and accelerate 
growth while maintaining top standards in governance, 
transparency, risk management, ethics, and corporate values.

We will not only continue improving the prospects of our 
company, but also play a vital role as a key enabler of Saudi 
Vision 2030, helping to pursue its goals and meet its objectives. 
The Board along with management are committed to making 
this a reality – and Company’s leadership at every level can be 
sure of our full and active support.

Together, we will work to develop, leverage, and profit from 
achieve The Company’s strategy, and fulfill our vision to be the 
preferred world leader in the manufacture of PET preforms and 
HDPE closure (caps).
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CEO INSIGHT

We would like to pass our sincere thankful to our stakeholders, 

including shareholders, customers, employees, and communities, 

for their support and efforts enabling yet another year of strong 

performance.

In 2019, The Company sustained its industry leadership with A 

new line was added to the manufacture of PET preforms, starting its 

operation on September 8, 2019, which contributes to increasing the 

production capacity by 11.58%, and we have achieved an increase in 

the storage capacity by operating the central warehouse on an area 

of 37 thousand square meters with a storage area of 22 thousand 

meters Square, that shall contribute to increasing storage capacity 

and optimizing production capacity throughout the year, especially 

the non-seasonal periods to meet increased demand. It will also 

contribute to logistical operations, and this has contributed to a strong 

stock position on December 31, 2019, taking advantage of this storage 

capacity. The construction cost was amounted to SAR 13.7 Million, 

and we have achieved sales growth of 6.40%, and this growth has 

been accompanied by an increase in the profitability of the company 

by 63.11% from the same year 2019. We have also invested our cash 

by linking cash deposits to an Islamic Murabaha system due to the 

profitability of the company. On the other hand, the loans obtained 

by the company during the year were managed optimally, led to 

a decrease in loans by 6.37% compared with the loan balance on 

December 31, 2018.

Over the last years, our portfolio actions have resulted in lean, 

focused businesses that can deliver profitable growth of equity, and 

add significant value over the years ahead. We have created a focused 

business that is positioned to leverage scale and integration to drive 

profitable growth globally by the manufacture of PET preforms and 

HDPE closure (caps). 

Going forward, global economic challenges threats to the global 

economy, and to our prospects over the near future, are numerous. 

GEORGE ABDUL KARIM GEORGE 
MOUSSA

Chief Executive Officer

WE ACHIEVED THE 
GOAL OF 2019 BY 

INCREASING OUR SALES 
AND OUR CUSTOMERS 

BASE LOCALLY AND 
INTERNATIONALLY
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However, with ongoing transformation efforts, The Company is going 

to continue to address the external and internal challenges and deliver 

increasingly more value to the shareholders.

To this end, we are launching three top priority corporate programs, 

that will increase our competitiveness further and enable profitable 

growth as follows:

 ◉ First, we will leverage advances in global digitalization 

technologies, to help us become more agile and competitive, 

as well as creating meaningful work for our employees and 

increasing their productivity. This program will aim to improve our 

commercial capabilities considerably in pricing, manufacturing, 

supply chain and innovation.

 ◉ Second, we will increase focus on our exports, enhancing our 

structural competitiveness by increasing our exports shares, that 

aims to improve our financial and operational performance to the 

first quartile.

 ◉  Third, as one of the largest leaders in the industry, we will 

improve our cost and capital performance. We are seeing a 

marked improvement in the return achieved. Moreover, enhancing 

the level of cost and capital spending will improve total returns 

when we build new warehouses with large storage spaces and 

the most advanced storage systems Integration at a competitive 

cost. In parallel, we affirmed our commitment to the success of 

the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia’s 2030 vision through focused and 

valuable efforts, benefiting from our experience in the field of 

business administration and innovation. This strong performance 

for 2019 would not have been possible had it not been for the 

dedicated efforts of our strong multicultural team, in addition I 

would like to thank them all for their active contribution, and I am 

sure that we will continue to achieve more value than expected for 

the shareholders.

PROFITABILITY RATIO 

10,90%
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ABOUT THE COMPANY
AND ITS ACTIVITIES
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BOARD MEMBERS

Tarek Abdul Rahman Saleh
Al Sadhan

Abdul Rahman Mohammed 
Abdul Rahman Al Zweidi

Board Vice Chairman

Board Member

Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim
AlTheyab
Chairman

Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali

Board Member

Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid 
Azhari

Board Member

George Abdul Karim George
Moussa

Board Member
Chief Executive Officer
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

George Abdul Karim George
 Moussa

Chief Executive Officer
Board Member

Rakan Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim
 AlTheyab

Supply Chain Director

Mahmoud Mohammed Zaky
Al gamry

Chief Financial Officer
Board Secretary

Abdul Mohsen Nasser Salem
Al Gremel

Human Resources Director

Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali

Quality Director
Board Member

Sherif Ramadan Youssef Zaqzouq

Production and maintainance Director

Yasser Ghannam Arafat Al Khatib

Sales Director

Mohammed Abdulaziz Moaajab 
Alhagabani

Acting Information Technology Director
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ABOUT THE COMPANY AND ITS ACTIVITIES

The Branch location
(Oasis Flower Plant for Plastic):

The Headoffice 
location:

Company’s Representatives:

External Auditors:

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Al Kharj, Riyadh to Al Kharj Road, Exit 7, Al Rafai Industrial Area

Unit No 3 - Building 4070

Postal code: 16352 Extension Number 8362

Tel: +966 (11) 5458689

Fax: +966 (11) 5459009

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Riyadh, Al Rabwa, Al Ahsa Street

Unit No. 1 - Building 7449

Postal code: 12814 Extension Number 2980

Tel: +966 (11) 211 1705

Fax: +966 (11) 211 1703

WEBSITE www.zaoasis.com

E-MAIL info@zaoasis.com

George Abdul Karim George Moussa
Chief Executive Officer
sm@zaoasis.com

Ahmed Hamoud Ibrahim AlTheyab
Chairman
ahmed@zaoasis.com

KPMG Al Fozan & Partners - Certified Public Accountants

The company was established as a sole proprietorship of its owner, 

Mr.Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim AlTheyab, under the name Zahrat Al 

Wahah For Trading firm, according to the Commercial Register No. 

1010190390 on 06/10/2003 in the city of Riyadh.

On 27/11/2012, the capital of Zahrat Al Wahah For Trading firm 

was increased to SAR 11,750,000.

On 18/02/2015, the capital of Zahrat Al Wahah For Trading firm 

was increased to SAR 33,375,000.

On 19/11/2015, Zahrat Al Wahah For Trading firm and its 

subsidiaries was transformed into a limited liability company according 

to the partners ’decision confirmed by the notary public number No. 

372029 on 19/11/2015, while preserving the name and number of the 

corporation’s commercial register where the company’s commercial 

record was issued on 09/12/2015 with a capital of SAR 50,000,000 

divided into 5,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of SAR 10 

per share.

On 08/12/2016, the partners ’decision was issued to convert 

the company from a limited liability company to a closed joint stock 

company and increase the company’s capital from SAR 50,000,000 

to SAR 80,000,000 divided into 8,000,000 ordinary shares with a 

nominal value of SAR 10 per share. Ministerial Resolution No. S / 86 on 

27/12/2016 The Company was converted from a sole proprietorship 

to a Limited Liability Company.

On 15/5/2017, the extraordinary general assembly of the company 

agreed to increase the company’s capital to SAR 150,000,000, 

divided into 15,000,000 ordinary shares, with a nominal value of SAR 

10 per share.

On 17/09/2017, the subscription process was conducted at the 

Saudi Capital Market Authority.

On 30/11/2017, Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company was 

transformed from a closed joint stock company into a Saudi public 

joint stock company with a capital of SAR 150,000,000 divided into 

15,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of SAR 10 per share.

The company conducts its business through its factory, which 

is its main and sole commercial and industrial activity, according to 

the Sub-Commercial Register No. 1011014061 dated 06/05/2010, 
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in the name of “Oasis Flower Plant for Plastic” located in Al-Kharj 

Governorate, Riyadh Al-Kharj Road, Exit 7, Al-Rafaie District Industrial, 

through which the production of plastic bottles and caps for bottles. 

Building a new concept in the sector of the manufacture of PET 

preforms and HDPE closure (caps) by providing various products with 

different sizes and weights at the highest quality and at competitive 

prices, in addition to meeting all the needs of its partners and 

customers, and the company seeks to take advantage of its leading 

position to gain additional market share by expanding in The Kingdom 

and outside it (the Gulf Cooperation Board countries and the Middle 

East, North and Central Africa region) by strengthening its position as 

a preferred partner of the water and juice sector producers as long as 

achieving the company’s vision.

     The company also devotes all its resources to diversifying our 

portfolio, whether to drive sales growth and mitigate the impact of any 

fluctuation in future demand locally and internationally, the growth 

potential extends beyond our primary customers in water mobilization, 

where we aim for new opportunities in the beverage industry, including 

beverages, juicy and dairy products.

All this forms a background for allocating our strategic 

capital, directing our investments and creating long-term value for 

shareholders.

The company relies on operational processes to use the latest 

production lines, which are characterized by the latest types of 

technology in the sector of the manufacture of PET preforms and HDPE 

closure (caps), which are purchased from the best companies in the 

world in this field, and the company has a team of highly experienced 

and distinguished competencies in managing the operational process 

This helps to operate the lines with the highest operational efficiency 

and the lowest waste rates, which contributes to production with the 

lowest operating expenses and the highest quality, which is one of the 

main objectives of the company.

These Regular aims to highlight the policies, rules, and standards 

adopted by the Board of Directors in exercising the responsibilities 

assigned to it in order to ensure adherence to the best governance 

practices that ensure the protection of the rights of shareholders 

and stakeholders. Those standards and regulations all or part of it 

can not be omitted, removed or replaced unless the board sees it as 

appropriate and unless a regulation, other regulation or decision of the 

Capital Market Authority Board or a Government Agency stipulates 

mandatory some of the provisions contained therein or adding 

provisions to it.

This list has been prepared based on the following regulations and 

documents:

1. The company’s articles of association.

2. The Capital Market Law issued by Royal Decree No. (M/30) dated 

2/06/1424 H and the regulations issued by the Capital Market 

Authority pursuant to it, and in particular the Corporate Governance 

Regulations issued by the Board of the Capital Market Authority 

pursuant to Resolution No. 16/08/2017 that dated at 16/05/1438 

H (corresponding to 13/02/2017) based on the Companies 

Law issued by Royal Decree No. (M/3) dated 28/01/1437H 

(corresponding to 10/11/2015) amended by Capital Market 

Authority decision No. 03/27/2019 that dated at 15/09/1440 H 

(corresponding to 20/05/2019).

3. The Saudi Companies System.

Our vision is to become the best company in the sector of the 

manufacture of PET preforms and HDPE closure (caps) throughout 

the Gulf Cooperation Board countries and the Middle East, North 

and Central Africa region, by providing a wide range of products at 

competitive prices, while maintaining the highest levels of quality and 

customer service .

COMPANY’S VISION

EFFICIENCY OF OPERATION

GOVERNANCE

COMPANY’S VISION
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QUALITY IS OUR MISSION, 
CUSTOMERS' SERVICES IS OUR SIGN
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OPERATIONAL 
SUMMARY

OPTIMIZATION IS
OUR GOAL
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OPERATIONAL SUMMARY

During the year 2019, the company’s various sources were 

managed with the highest exploitation to reach the highest levels of 

operational operations, and this was represented in many different 

axes, where all production lines were operated at the highest levels 

of efficiency with the management of a distinguished operating team, 

which contributed to increasing the volume of bottle miniatures during 

the year 2019 for The corresponding year 2018 by tons 13.7 thousand 

over the year 2018, an increase of 20.91%, while the increase in the 

production of plastic sheets during the year 2019 compared to the 

similar year 2018 amounted to 1.43 thousand tons, an increase of 

19.98%.

THE COMPANY'S COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company has many competitive 

advantages against its existing and potential competitors, as well as 

its ability to achieve added value to shareholders among these factors:

• Meet customer needs flexibly and 
quickly

Zahrat Al Waha Trading Company has the competitive ability 

The company also included many new customers to its customer 

base, which contributed to an increase in the value of sales in 2019 

over the same year by SAR 31.25 million, an increase of 6.40%, while 

the cost of sales during the year 2019 against the corresponding year 

2018 was managed to bring the company to the best level As the 

cost of sales increased by SAR 7.82 million, an increase of 1.85%, 

which had a clear impact on a noticeable increase in the profit pool 

for the year 2019 compared to the same year 2018, and the value of 

the increase in the gross profit amounted to SAR 23.42 million, an 

increase of 36.02%.

to meet the different needs of clients with flexibility in meeting the 

different requirements of customers. This is evident in its manufacture 

of PET preforms with a short and long neck with different weights 

and sizes, and the manufacture of HDPE closure (caps) of different 

weights and colors, thanks to the use of the latest mechanisms in 

terms Technology, higher production capacity, and lower overall costs.
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• Advanced factory and machinery 
with advanced technology

The advanced plant owned by Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company 

enables the ability to design and produce a variety of products with 

high efficiency to meet the changing demand of customers of the 

highest quality the Company has fifteen (15) lines for producing PET 

preforms and eight (8) line for producing HDPE closure (caps) with 

the latest technology that was purchased from Heskey Company, 

which is a world leader in the industry of manufacture of PET preforms 

and HDPE closure (caps).

Logistics and operational efficiency
The Oasis Flower Plant for Plastic is located in the Al-Kharj area in the central region of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Zahrat Al-Waha For Trading 

Company benefits from excellent and fast communication capabilities with all customers throughout the Kingdom, and the company has a central 

warehouse with an area of 37 thousand square meters, which will be operated with the latest automatic storage systems and contracted with the Italian 

Electric Company 80 specialized in storage systems and product trading Automatically, which contributes to the optimal utilization of the warehouse 

space, which is reflected in an increase in the storage capacity and the optimal utilization of production capacity throughout the year, especially the 

non-seasonal periods to meet the increased demand, as it will contribute to logistical operations, which will have The effect in reducing blending speed 

and accuracy of the stock trading and reduce the number of labor warehouses.

The company is also contracted with many transportation companies that enable it to meet customer requests all over the Kingdom with the fastest 

time and quantities required in the specified dates according to the schedule of customer needs.

INCREASE RATIO OF 

INVENTORY 32,45%

INVENTORY TURNOVER 

1:11,33
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Administration Team

Operational Team

An experienced staff
Most members of the management team of Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company work with the company since its inception, and all work team has 

extensive experience both in its field, where the products are marketed, sold and promoted through a team that has extensive experience , well versed 

in the market and the dynamics of business and has a record of successes In this field, it also has a working group to have extensive experience in 

inventory management and logistical work. The operating sector team has operating experience in dealing with Heskey machines, posses the required 

experience to operate them in distinct experiences and competencies. Also the financial team has experience managing finance and financial flows of 

the company with high efficiency and experienced, as for the senior management has experience managing short and long-term expansion plans and 

experience in the sector of manufacture of PET preforms and HDPE closure (caps).
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THE HISTORICAL GROWTH 
OF THE MOST IMPORTANT 
FINANCIAL INDICATORS
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THE HISTORICAL GROWTH OF 
CURRENT ASSETS DURING THE 
PAST FIVE YEARS

Assets 

(Millions Saudi Riyal)

Liabilities 

(Millions Saudi Riyal)

Shareholders Equity

(Millions Saudi Riyal)

Net Profit/Loss

(Millions Saudi Riyal)

Operational Profit 

(Millions Saudi Riyal)

Revenus

(Millions Saudi Riyal)

Customers’ Base
PROFIT BEFORE CALCULATION OF INTEREST, 

TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

103,88 Millions Saudi Riyal

ANNUAL GROWTH RATE

19,7%

LEVERAGE RATE

1:1,19 
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Performance indicators during 2019

1. cash flows

2. Significant differences of operating results
During the year 2019, the company had many positive differences in the operational results due to managing the company’s 

resources well and using all the company’s resources efficiently and effectively, and this was represented as follows:

a. The main differences of revenue and gross profit:

The company’s cash flows during 2019 from 2018 were significantly affected by the cash flows resulting from operating activities affected by the 

net profit and change in trade receivables, as cash flows from operating activities during 2019 amounted to SAR 77.96 million compared to SAR 4.78 

million in 2018.

The company has achieved a net change in cash and cash equivalents amounted to SAR 9 million as a result of changes in the items of the 

statement of cash flows, as follows:

Description 2019 2018

Cash flow generated used in / generated from operating activities 77,962,255 7,781,745

Cash flows used in investing activities (20,135,200) (42,999,354)

Cash flows used in / generated from financing activities (49,070,923) 35,710,330

Net change in cash balances and cash equivalents 8,756,132 16,620,422

Description 2019 2018
Differences

Net Ratios

Revenue 519,757,535 488,512,214 31,245,321 6.40

Cost of revenue 431,297,189 423,476,321 7,820,868 1.85

Gross Profit 88,460,346 65,035,893 23,424,453 36,02

Table (1): Changes in cash flows

Table (2): the main differences of revenue and gross profit:

The total profit for the year 2019 reached SAR 88.46 million, an 

increase of SAR 23.42 million for the same year 2018, affected by 

the increase in the company’s sales by 6.40% from the same year 

2018, while the cost of sales decreased by 1.85%, due to the increase 

in the amount of sales by Tons 87.07 thousand of Preform and caps 

while they were Tons 73.61 thousand during the same year 2018 

and with the management of operating expenses and an increase in 

production capacity throughout the year, which contributed to limiting 

the increase in the cost of sales to be the increase by less than the 

increase in the value of sales.

CHANGE IN CURRENT 

DEPT RATIO 1:0,44

ANNUAL GROWTH RATE 
OF GROSS PROFIT
14,8%
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The effect of the operating profit for the year 2019 compared to 

the operating profit for the same year 2018, where the operating profit 

increased by 38.54% due to the increase in the gross profit which 

increased by 36.02%, while the percentage of increase in selling and 

marketing expenses was 9.68%.

The net profit for the year 2019 increased by 63.39% from the 

net profit for the same year 2018 due to the increase in the operating 

profit with the decrease in financing costs and Zakat for the year 2019 

compared to the similar year 2018.

b. The main differences of the operating profit results:

c. The main differences of the net profit for the year

Description 2019 2018
Differences

Net Ratios

Gross Profit 88,460,346 65,035,893 23,424,453 36,02

Selling and marketing expenses (8,774,604) (8,000,355)  774,249 9.68%

General and administration expenses (7,139,962) (5,348,390)  1,791,572 18.16%

Other operation expenses/income (Net) 852,507 1,292,723 (440,216) (34.05%)

Operation Profit 73,398,287 52,979,871  20,418,416 38.54%

Description 2019 2018
Differences

Net Ratios

Operation Profit 73,398,287 52,979,871  20,418,416 38.54%

Finance income - - - -

Finance expenses (13,274,151) (13,864,802) (590.651) (4.26%)

Zakat expense and value added tax (3,488,308) (4,452,324) (964,016) (21.65%)

Net profit for the year 56,635,828 34,662,745 21,973,083 63.39%

Table (3): the main differences of the results of the operating profit:

Table (4): the main differences of Net (loss) / profit for the year:

3. The earning per share for the year

Table (5): the earning per share for the year:

Description 2019 2018
Differences

Net Ratios

Earnings per share 3.78 2.31 1.47 63.39%

Earnings per share increased by 63.39% over earnings per share for the year 2018 due to an increase in net profit, which increased by 63.39% from 

2018.

ANNUAL GROWTH RATIO 
OF OPERATING PROFIT 
8,7%

ANNUAL GROWTH RATIO 
OF NET PROFIT AND LOSS
2.6%
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4. The Murabaha and loans 

• Short term Murabaha and loans

No. Lender Classification 
of loan Loan value Loan 

period

Payments 
during the 

year

Loan balance 
at yearend

Guarantees 
against loan

1 Alawwal bank Short term loan 21,089,877 4 Months 21,089,877 0 PO by the Company

2 Alawwal bank Short term loan 1,065,055 3 Months 1,065,055 0 PO by the Company

3 Alawwal bank Short term loan 2,547,735 3 Months 2,547,735 0 PO by the Company

4 Alawwal bank Short term loan 12,728,763 3 Months 12,728,763  PO by the Company

5 Alawwal bank Short term loan 18,324,073 3 Months 0 18,324,073 PO by the Company

6 Alawwal bank Short term loan 17,956,064 3 Months 0 17,956,064 PO by the Company

7 British Saudi Bank Short term loan 24,565,717 4 Months 24,565,717 0 PO by the Company

8 British Saudi Bank Short term loan 12,527,433 4 Months 12,527,433 0 PO by the Company

9 British Saudi Bank Short term loan 17,616,775 4 Months 0 17,616,775 PO by the Company

10 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 18,733,588 3 Months 18,733,588 0 PO by the Company

11 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 5,669,194 3 Months 5,669,194 0 PO by the Company

12 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 9,018,819 9 Months 9,018,819 0 PO by the Company

13 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 25,812,534 3 Months 25,812,534 0 PO by the Company

14 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 20,976,091 3 Months 20,976,091 0 PO by the Company

15 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 6,806,087 3 Months 6,806,087 0 PO by the Company

16 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 10,621,531 3 Months 10,621,531 0 PO by the Company

17 The Saudi Investment 
Bank Short term loan 14,261,121 3 Months 8,656,027 5,605,094 PO by the Company

18 Arab national Bank Short term loan 31,437,614 3 Months 31,437,614 0 PO by the Company

19 Arab national Bank Short term loan 28,208,482 3 Months 28,208,482 0 PO by the Company

20 Arab national Bank Short term loan 16,190,297 3 Months 16,190,297 0 PO by the Company

21 Arab national Bank Short term loan 5,485,251 3 Months 5,485,251 0 PO by the Company

22 Arab national Bank Short term loan 1,182,786 3 Months 1,182,786 0 PO by the Company

23 Arab national Bank Short term loan 8,521,904 3 Months 8,521,904 0 PO by the Company

24 Arab national Bank Short term loan 35,664,676 3 Months 35,664,676 0 PO by the Company

25 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 28,403,080 2 Month 28,403,080 0 PO by the Company

26 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 9,379,201 2 Month 9,379,201 0 PO by the Company

27 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 2,324,941 3 Months 2,324,941 0 PO by the Company

28 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 19,016,845 6 Months 15,200,838 3,816,007 PO by the Company

29 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 3,440,031 2 Month 1,710,593 1,729,439 PO by the Company

30 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 14,167,897 2 Month 0 14,167,897 PO by the Company

31 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 22,778,965 110Days 22,778,965 0 PO by the Company

32 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 12,455,836 3 Months 0 12,455,836 PO by the Company

33 Alinma  Bank Short term loan 22,024,962 3 Months 0 22,024,962 PO by the Company

Table (6): Short term Murabaha and loans:
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The balance of short-term loans that are used to finance public capital increased on December 31, 2019 compared to the loan balance on December 

31, 2018 by SAR 2.52 million, or 2.28%, due to the increase in purchases of raw materials that are funded with short-term loans, where purchases in 

2019 reached SAR 382.3 million, while purchases of raw materials during the year 2018 were SAR 358.3 million, an increase of SAR 24.0 million, an 

increase of 6.7%.

• Long term Murabaha and loans

No. Lender Classification 
of loan Loan value Loan period

Payments 
during the 

year

Loan balance 
at yearend

Guarantees against 
loan

1 The Saudi 
Investment Bank Long term loan 1,694,534.33 36 Months 0 1,694,534.33 PO by the Company

2 Arab national Bank Long term loan 3,910,849 12 Month 2,005,925 1,904,924 PO by the Company

3 Arab national Bank Long term loan 6,639,038 12 Month 3,400,755 3,238,283 PO by the Company

4 Arab national Bank Long term loan 2,107,613 12 Month 1,079,612 1,028,001 PO by the Company

5 Arab national Bank Long term loan 527,708 12 Month 270,483 257,225 PO by the Company

6 Arab national Bank Long term loan 1,421,593 12 Month 728,166 693,427 PO by the Company

7 Arab national Bank Long term loan 1,387,189 12 Month 710,592 676,597 PO by the Company

8 Arab national Bank Long term loan 726,637 12 Month 372,268 354,369 PO by the Company

9 Arab national Bank Long term loan 3,508,095 35 Month 1,503,767 2,004,328 PO by the Company

10 Arab national Bank Long term loan 816,761 12 Month 418,460 398,302 PO by the Company

11 Arab national Bank Long term loan 697,917 12 Month 357,604 340,313 PO by the Company

12 Arab national Bank Long term loan 1,384,599 12 Month 709,236 675,363 PO by the Company

13 Arab national Bank Long term loan 1,006,683 12 Month 518,593 488,089 PO by the Company

14 Arab national Bank Long term loan 3,496,391 35 Month 960,711 2,535,680 PO by the Company

15 Arab national Bank Long term loan 2,996,157 35 Month 818,845 2,177,312 PO by the Company

16 Arab national Bank Long term loan 2,308,873 35 Month 636,755 1,672,119 PO by the Company

17 Arab national Bank Long term loan 2,231,976 35 Month 617,868 1,614,107 PO by the Company

18 Arab national Bank Long term loan 9,830,973 35 Month 2,687,393 7,143,581 PO by the Company

19 Arab national Bank Long term loan 582,132 12 Month 299,119 283,013 PO by the Company

20 Arab national Bank Long term loan 6,565,413 35 Month 1,937,101 4,628,311 PO by the Company

21 Arab national Bank Long term loan 626,588 12 Month 321,446 305,142 PO by the Company

22 Arab national Bank Long term loan 1,306,226 35 Month 357,589 948,637 PO by the Company

23 Arab national Bank Long term loan 2,387,588 35 Month 698,841 1,688,747 PO by the Company

24 Arab national Bank Long term loan 3,046,423 35 Month 1,007,650 2,038,774 PO by the Company

25 Arab national Bank Long term loan 840,263 24 Month 294,264 545,999 PO by the Company

26 Arab national Bank Long term loan 2,603,519 24 Month 911,110 1,692,410 PO by the Company

27 Industrial 
Development Fund Long term loan 88,402,000 39 Month 12,386,000 76,016,000 PO by the Company

28 Alinma  Bank Long term loan 9,522,713 20 Month 3,802,450 5,720,262 PO by the Company

29 Al Rajhi Bank Long term loan 153,197 3 Months 153,197 0 PO by the Company

30 Al Rajhi Bank Long term loan 307,933 6 Months 307,933 0 PO by the Company

Table (7): Long term Murabaha and loans:
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The balance of long-term loans on December 31, 2019 amounted to SAR 128.79 million, while the balance of long-term loans on December 31, 

2018 was SAR 147.76 million, a decrease of SAR 18.97 Million by 12.84% due to the company’s reliance on financing most of the capital expansion 

during 2019 on self-financing by the company.

5. Operating segment

• Plastic bottles (preforms) income segment

The sales growth of the Preform sector was affected by an increase in the volume of sales in this sector, which increased by 18.03% for tons sold 

in 2019 compared to sold during the same year 2018.

The operational sectors of Zahrat Al-Waha Trading are represented 

in the sectors of plastic bottles (preforms) and plastic caps:

The growth of sales of the plastic caps sector was affected by the increase in the volume of sales in this sector, which increased by 20.67% per ton 

sold during 2019 compared to sold during the same year 2018.

• Plastic caps income segment

Table (8):  Plastic bottles preforms income segment

Table (9):  Plastic caps income segment

Description 2019 2018 Differences

Plastic bottles preforms income segment 442,757,824 419,257,351 5.61%

Sales by Pieces 6,147,324,024 5,330,162,160 15.33%

Sales by Ton 78,642 66,628 18.03%

Description 2019 2018 Differences

Plastic caps income segment 76,999,711 69,254,863 11.18%

Sales by Pieces 5,427,428,500 4,505,396,656 20.47%

Sales by Ton 8,426 6,983 20.67%

Plastic bottles (preforms) income segment

(Millions, Saudi Riyal)

Plastic caps income segment

(Millions, Saudi Riyal)

2018 2019

443

5.6%

419

2018 2019

77

69

11.1%
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• Geographical analysis of the company’s main activities

Table (10): Geographical analysis of the company’s main activities:

Revenues per 
countries

2019 2018

Sales (units) Sales (Ton) Sales (Value) Sales (units) Sales (Ton) Sales (Value)

Gulf countries 380,991,952 2,440.58 15,380,312.31 319,246,528 2,011.74 13,639,842.13 

Asia 1,821,759,216 19,653.81 106,501,658.01 1,077,904,848 12,470.90 74,716,667.26 

Africa 21,768,112 295.56 1,819,267.03 22,147,840 193.63 1,454,951.96 

Europe    140,000 0.18 2,100.00 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - 
Central Region 6,004,778,544 46,155.63 278,331,938.21 6,153,931,536 47,333.95 316,430,260.64 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - 
Northern Region 1,579,385,852 10,686.71 65,794,583.92 1,080,511,232 5,692.77 40,505,261.04 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - 
Southern Region 590,038,256 3,098.15 19,734,392.74 589,119,416 3,640.66 24,809,551.84 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - 
Eastern Province 42,276,064 296.23 1,847,667.12 39,065,784 175.58 1,301,196.05 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - 
Western Region 1,133,754,528 4,441.09 30,347,716.07 553,491,632 2,091.66 15,652,383.21 

Total revenues 11,574,752,524 87,067.76 519,757,535.41 9,835,558,816 73,611.06 488,512,214.13 

Geographical analysis of the 

company main activities

Segment Shares of total revenues 

for 2019

Segment shares of total revenues 

for 2018

54

20

3

6

4
0,4

13

0,4

2019 85

15

2019

Gulf countries

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - Central Region

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - Northern Region

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - Southern Region

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - Eastern Province

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia - Western Region

Asia

Africa

Plastic bottles preforms segment

Plastic caps segment

86

14

2018
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1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS, COMMITTEES AND MANAGEMENT

 ◉ A board of directors

According to the articles of association of the company, Chapter 

Three (The Board of Directors), Article Sixteen (16) The company is 

managed by a board of directors consisting of six members (non-

executive member - three independent members - two executive 

members) appointed by the Ordinary General Assembly for a period 

not exceeding three years, and the term of the first board of directors 

begins from the date of the issuance of the ministerial decision to 

convert the company for a period of five years .

The first board of directors has been appointed in accordance 

with Ministerial Decision No. 86 of 27/12/2016 and the decision of 

the General Assembly to Convert on 26/12/2016.

The Board of Directors is the supreme administrative position 

in Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company, which represents it and 

protects its interests and the interests of the company’s shareholders, 

and the Board is thus responsible for leading and controlling the 

company’s activities and activities and the continuous follow-up of 

its performance and goals achieved, and exercises this responsibility 

by adopting and implementing its policies and goals and supporting 

its departments in the performance of its tasks According to specific 

criteria.

The Board of Directors is responsible for directing the 

management, and setting the appropriate controls for its work, and 

this includes defining a clear vision and strategy for the company and 

defining the bases for delegating authority to management and the 

permitted policies and limitations.

 In addition to the authority and authority mentioned in the articles 

of association of the company and in accordance with the corporate 

governance regulations, Chapter Four of the Board of Directors 

section.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ AUTHORITY
With consideration of the General Assembly, the board of 

directors shall have the widest authority in managing the company, 
supervising its activities and funds, and managing its affairs inside 
and outside the Kingdom. The Board of Directors, for example but 
not limited to - representing the company in its relations with others 
and in front of all governmental and private bodies and before lawful 
courts, secretariats, municipalities, village complexes, judicial bodies, 
the Board of Grievances, work offices, labor case departments, 
primary and high labor committees, commercial committees, all 
judicial committees, settlement committees, and any committees of 
any kind. Rights committees, police departments and all executive 
bodies, chambers of commerce and chambers inside and outside the 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. In front of private bodies, companies and 
institutions of all kinds, and individuals. The Board of Directors have 
the right to buy, sell, offload, accept, receive, deliver and sign this with 
the notary, pay the price, collect the price and deliver the price, also 
has the right to pledge and redeem it, and has the right to amend the 
instruments with their limits, their area, deletion, addition, merging the 
instruments, dividing and counting, and he has the right to combine 
property The Sukuk and the request to amend use of the plans, and it 
has the right to lease, rent, collect, pay, sign and annul the contracts. 
The Board has the right to approve the establishment of subsidiary 
companies, branches and agencies of the company, subscribe and 
contribute to any of the companies, has the right to sign contracts 
establishing companies in which the company participates with all its 
amendments, whether by raising or lowering the capital, entering new 
partners, leaving partners or any other amendments of any kind, and 
signing mergers, acquisitions and purchases decisions, and he has the 
right to sign all types of contracts, agreements, agencies, concessions 
and deals on behalf of the company and entry In tenders on their 
behalf and signing documents, documents, deeds and empties before 
the notaries and all the official authorities and the board of directors 
have the right to plead, defend, quarrel, prosecute, claim, clearance, 
conciliation, acknowledgment, denial, preemption, and hearing the 
claim It is necessary to respond to it, establish evidence, pay, deny 
lines and seals, challenge them, forgery, request the appointment of 
experts and arbitrators and return them and follow up on cases that 
are established by or against the company before all lawful courts, 
the Board of Grievances, all judicial bodies, commercial and financial 
disputes committees, work offices, labor cases departments, primary 
and high labor committees, and committees Arbitration and any 
other committees of any type and receive what is happening from 
implementation, and any government agency, and has the right to end 
all cases established by or against the company. The board has the 
right to accept judgments, to request their implementation, to deny, 
object to them and to request their appeal or distinction, and to have 
the right to sign all that is necessary regarding this.

The Board of Directors has the right to open, manage and operate 
accounts in the name of the company with all banks, close or liquidate 
them, withdraw and deposit, open credits, make transfers, issue bank 
guarantees in relation to the company’s business, sign all papers, 
financial documents, checks, all types of banking transactions, edit 
bonds to order, create and sign commercial papers, endorse and 
seize them, and conduct All financing transactions necessary for 
the company’s activity, including requesting financing of all kinds of 
financing companies, signing it, signing contracts and facilities papers, 
signing Murabaha agreements, investment and other commercial 
paper and to undertake all transactions and conclude all agreements 
and deals without limitation. The Board has the right to issue legal 
agencies and authorizations on behalf of the company and to cancel 
it in whole or in part.
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He has the right to request visas from work and recruitment offices 
and pay their fees, and he has the right to grant exit and return visas, 
final exit, transfer of guarantees and assignment of them, and request 
visit visas and obtain residencies and work permits and renewal. And 
the report of opening branches inside and outside the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia, extracting and renewing commercial records, making 
amendments to them from deleting, adding, changing or striking out, 
requesting the extraction of licenses of any kind and renewing them, 
and making amendments to them from removing, adding, changing or 
canceling them. And approving the company’s business plan, agreeing 
to its operating plans and its annual capital budget, approving the 
company’s internal, financial, administrative and technical regulations, 
policies and regulations for its employees, and authorizing those 
responsible for managing the company with the authority to sign on 
behalf of the company within the rules established by the Board of 
Directors.

Appointing employees, determining their salaries and benefits, 
separating and dismissing them. And the signing of mortgages in 
favor of governmental and private banks and industrial, real estate and 
investment development funds.

         The Board of Directors may also contract loans with 
government financing funds and institutions, whatever their duration, 
and it has the right to contract commercial loans, with due regard to 
the following conditions for contracting loans with a term of more than 
three years:

The Board of Directors determines in its decision the ways to use 
the loan and how to repay it.

To consider the conditions of the loan and the guarantees provided 
to him not to harm the company and its shareholders, and the general 
guarantees of creditors.

         The Board of Directors shall also have the right to conciliation, 
assignment, contracting, commitment and association with the 
company’s name and on its behalf, and the Board of Directors 
may perform all actions and behaviors that achieve the company’s 
objectives.

         The Board of Directors of the company and in the cases it 
appreciates has the right to discharge the company’s debtors from 
their obligations according to what is in its best interest, provided that 
the minutes of the board of directors and the reasons for its decision 
include the following conditions:

The discharge must be after a full year has elapsed since the debt 
originated as a minimum.

The discharge must be for a specified amount, as a maximum, for 
each year of the debtor.

Discharge is a right of the board that cannot be delegated.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS EXERCISES THE 
FOLLOWING TASKS: 
1. Approving the strategic directions and main objectives of the 

company and supervising their implementation, including:

• Set the company’s overall strategy, main business plans and risk 
management policy, review and direct it.

• Determine the optimal capital structure for the company, its 
strategy and financial goals, and approve annual budgets.

• Oversee the company’s capital expenditures, own assets and 
dispose of them.

• Set performance goals and monitor implementation and overall 
performance in the company.

• Periodic review and approval of organizational and functional 
structures in the company.

• Verify that the necessary human and financial resources are 
available to achieve the company’s goals and master plans.

2. Establishing systems and controls for internal control and general 

supervision over them, including:

• Developing a written policy governing conflict of interests 
and addressing potential conflicts of conflict for each of the 
members of the board of directors, executive management and 
shareholders, including the misuse of the company’s assets and 
facilities, and the misbehavior resulting from transactions with 
related persons.

• Ensuring the integrity of the financial and accounting systems, 
including those related to the preparation of financial reports.

• Ensuring the application of appropriate control systems for 
managing risks, by setting a general perception of the risks that 
the company may face and putting it up in transparency.

• Annual review of the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control procedures.

3. Establishing a corporate governance regulation and general 

supervision over it, monitoring its effectiveness and amending it 

when needed.

4. Setting clear and specific policies, standards and procedures for 

membership in the Board of Directors and putting them into effect 

after their approval by the General Assembly of the company.

5. Establishing a written policy regulating the relationship with 

stakeholders, in order to protect them and preserve their rights.

6. Laying down the policies and procedures that guarantee the 

company’s respect of the laws and regulations and its commitment 

to disclose the essential information to shareholders, creditors and 

other stakeholders.

7. Working to improve the general image of the company.

8. Supervising the company’s financial management, its cash flows, 

and its financial and credit relationships with others.
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9. To propose to the extraordinary general assembly what he deems 

necessary regarding the following:

• Increase or decrease the company’s capital.

• Dissolution of the company before the term specified in the 
company’s articles of association or its continuation report.

10. The proposal for the Extraordinary General Assembly with what 

deems necessary regarding the following:

• Use the company’s statutory reserve if it is formed by the 
Extraordinary General Assembly and not allocated for a specific 
purpose.

• o Create additional reserves or provisions for the company.

The method of distributing the company’s net profits.

11. Preparing the company’s preliminary and annual financial 

statements and approving them before publishing them.

12. Preparing and approving the report of the Board of Directors 

before publishing it.

13. Ensuring the accuracy and integrity of the data and information to 

be disclosed, in accordance with the established disclosure and 

transparency policies and systems of work.

14. Establishing effective communication channels that allow 

shareholders to be informed continuously and periodically of 

the various activities of the company and any fundamental 

developments.

15. Forming specialized committees emanating from him by decisions 

determining the duration of the committee, its authority and 

responsibilities, and how the board supervises it, provided that the 

formation decision includes naming the members and determining 

their tasks, rights and duties, while evaluating the performance of 

the work of these committees and their members.

16. Determine the types of bonuses granted to employees of the 

company, such as fixed bonuses, performance-related bonuses, 

and bonuses in the form of shares, in a manner that does not 

conflict with the regulatory controls and procedures issued in 

implementation of the corporate system for listed joint-stock 

companies.

17. Setting the values and standards that govern the work in the 

company.

THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS ARE AS FOLLOWS:
1. Taking into consideration the authority of the General Assembly, the 

company’s board of directors takes over all the authority necessary 
to manage it, and the final responsibility for the company remains 
on the board, even if it creates committees or delegates other 
entities or individuals to carry out some of its actions, and the board 
must avoid issuing general or indefinite mandates.

2. The responsibilities of the Board of Directors must be clearly 
defined in the company’s articles of association.

3. The Board of Directors must perform its duties with responsibility, 
good confidence, seriousness and concern, and its decisions must 
be based on adequate information from the executive management, 
or any other reliable source.

4. A member of the board of directors represents all the shareholders, 
and must commit to do what is generally in the interests of the 
company, and not what fulfills the interests of the group he 
represents, or who voted for his appointment in the board of 
directors.

5. The Board of Directors determines the authority that it delegates 
to the executive management, decision-making procedures and 
the duration of the delegation. It also determines the issues that it 
retains the power to decide upon, and the executive management 
reports periodically on the exercise of the delegated authority.

6. The board of directors should ensure that procedures are in place 
to familiarize the new board members with the company’s work, 
especially the financial and legal aspects, as well as train them if 
necessary.

7. The Board of Directors must ensure that the company provides 
adequate information on its affairs to all members of the Board 
of Directors in general, and to non-executive board members in 
particular, in order to enable them to carry out their duties and 
tasks adequately and effectively.

8. The Board of Directors is not permitted to contract loans that have 
a maturity of three years, to sell or mortgage the company’s real 
estate, or to absolve the company’s debtors of their obligations, 
unless it is authorized to do so in the company’s articles of 
association and with the conditions set forth therein. If the 
company’s articles of association do not contain provisions in this 
regard, the Board may not perform the afore mentioned actions 
without permission from the General Assembly, unless such 
actions are inherently included in the purposes of the company.

9. Each member of the board of directors, executive management, 
and company employees must perform the duties of care and 
loyalty towards the company, and everything that preserves the 
interests of the company, maximizes its value, and presents its 
interests in their personal interest in all cases.

10. A member of the Board of Directors represents all the shareholders 
in the company, and he is committed to what is in the interest 
of the company and the interest of shareholders and takes into 
account the rights of other stakeholders, and not only the interest 
of the group that elected him.

11. The members of the Board of Directors and their senior executives 
are bound by all relevant laws, regulations and instructions.

12. It is prohibited for a member of the board of directors or a member 
of the executive board to exploit his position in order to achieve his 
or her own interest.

13. The company’s assets and resources should be used exclusively 
to achieve the company’s goals and objectives, and not to use 
those assets or resources to achieve private interests.
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14. The Board of Directors shall set out precise, accurate and clear 
rules that regulate the validity and timing of access to the internal 
information of the company in a way that prevents the members of 
the Board of Directors and the executive management and others 
from benefiting from them or disclosing them to any person, except 
within the established limits or the award in order.

THE DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Each member of the Board of Directors shall adhere to the principles 

of honesty, trustworthiness, loyalty, care and attention to the interests 

of the company and the shareholders, and present them in his personal 

interest, and this shall include the following:

1. Honesty: That is that the relationship of a member of the Board of 
Directors with the company is a sincere professional relationship, 
and that he discloses to her any influential information before 
executing any deal or contract with the company or one of its 
subsidiaries.

2. Loyalty: That is by a member of the Board of Directors avoiding 
transactions that involve a conflict of interest, while verifying the 
fairness of the deal, and considering the provisions relating to 
conflict of interests in these regulations.

3. Caring and caring: by performing the duties and responsibilities 
mentioned in the company’s system, the financial market system, 
their executive regulations, the company’s basic system, and other 
related regulations.

Each member of the Board of Directors - through his membership in 

the Board of Directors - performs the following tasks and duties:

1. Submit proposals to develop the company’s strategy.

2. Monitor the performance of the executive management and the 
extent of its achievement of the company’s goals and objectives.

3. Reviewing the company performance reports.

4. Verify the integrity and integrity of the company’s financial 
statements and information.

5. Verify that the company’s financial control and risk management 
systems are strong.

6. Determine the appropriate responsibilities for the remuneration of 
the members of the executive management.

7. Express an opinion on the appointment and dismissal of members 
of the executive management.

8. Participate in setting the succession and replacement plan for the 
company’s executive jobs.

9. Fully adhere to the provisions of the corporate system, the financial 
market system, their executive regulations, relevant regulations, 
and the articles of association when exercising the duties of 
his membership in the board, and refrain from carrying out or 
participating in any act that constitutes an abuse of the company’s 
affairs.

10. Attending the meetings of the Board of Directors and the General 

Assembly and not being absent from them except for a legitimate 
excuse notified to the Chairman of the Board in advance, or for 
urgent reasons.

11. Allocate enough time to carry out his responsibilities, prepare for 
and participate in the meetings of the Board of Directors and its 
committees effectively, including directing relevant questions and 
discussing the company’s senior executives.

12. Study and analyze information related to topics considered by the 
Board of Directors before expressing an opinion on them.

13. Enabling other members of the board of directors to express their 
opinions freely, and he urged the board to deliberate issues and 
seek the opinions of specialists from the members of the executive 
management of the company and others if a need arises.

14. Inform the Board in full and promptly of any interest he has - direct 
or indirect - in the business and contracts that are made for the 
company’s account, and that this reporting includes the nature of 
that interest and its limits and the names of any persons involved 
in it, and the benefit expected to be obtained directly or indirectly 
from That interest, whether that interest is financial or non-
financial, and that member must not participate in voting on any 
decision issued in this regard, in accordance with the provisions 
of the corporate system and the financial market system and their 
executive regulations.

15. Inform the Board in full and promptly of his participation - direct or 
indirect - in any business that would compete with the company, 
or by competing with the company - directly or indirectly - in one 
of the branches of his activity, in accordance with the provisions 
of the companies system, the financial market system and their 
executive regulations .

16. Not to broadcast or disclose any secrets that he stood on 
through his membership in the board to any of the company’s 
shareholders - unless during the general assembly meetings - 
or to others, according to what is required by the provisions of 
the companies ’system, the financial market system, and their 
executive regulations.

17. Working on full information and in good faith, with due diligence 
and care, in the interest of the company and all shareholders.

18. 18- Be aware of his duties, roles and responsibilities as a result of 
membership.

19. Developing his knowledge in the field of the company’s activities 
and work and in the relevant financial, commercial and industrial 
fields.

20. Resigning from the membership of the Board of Directors if he is 

unable to fully fulfill his duties in the Board.
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No. Member's name Current Position Previous 
Position Qualifications Experiences

1 Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim 
Altheyab

Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Managing 
Director at 
Hana Food 
Industries 
Company

Managing 
Director at Hana 
Food Industries 
Company

• Training courses in sales 
and marketing skills

• Training courses for the 
development of managers 
and decision makers Gulf 
Creativity

• General Manager at Hana 
Food Industries Company

• Deputy President at the 
Chamber of Commerce of 
Bakria Province

• General Manager at Zahart Al 
Waha For Trading Company 

2 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh 
AlSedhan

Chief Executive 
Officer at Riyad 
Bank

Advisor to the 
Chairman at 
the Board of 
Directors of 
Saudi Fund for 
Development

• Bachelor of Accounting
• Diploma in International 

Trade - University of 
Edinburgh, Scotland

• MBA - University Enpc 
Paris France

• Member of the American 
Institute of Licensed 
Accountants AICPA 

• Member of the Institute of 
Internal Audit IIA 

• Member of the Saudi 
Licensed Public 
Accountants Authority 
SOCPA

• Director General in charge at 
General Authority for Zakat 
and Income

• Deputy Governor at the 
Arab Monetary Agency for 
Oversight of Saudi Arabian 
Monetary Institution

• Chief Executive Officer 
at KPMG Auditors and 
Chartered Accountants

3 George Abdulkarim George 
Moussa

Chief Executive 
Officer at 
Zahrat Alwaha 
For Trading 
Company

General 
Manager 
of Sales at 
Zahrat Alwaha 
For Trading 
Company

• Bachelor of Marketing and 
Sales

• General Manager of Sales at 
Al-Othman Plastic Company 
- Takween

4 Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid 
Azhari

Internal Audit 
Director at 
Saudi Civil 
Aviation 
Holding 
Company

Chief Financial 
Officer at 
Saudi Civil 
Aviation Holding 
Company

• Bachelor of Accounting

• Chairman of Audit Committee 
at Hana Food Industries 
Company

• Chairman of Audit Committee 
at Batic Investments and 
Logistics Company

• Member of the Board 
of Directors at Batic 
Investments and Logistics 
Company

• Member of Audit Committee 
at Zahart Al Waha For 
Trading Company

• Member of Audit Committee 
at Al Jazeera Bank

• Economic Advisor at National 
Water Company

• Chief Financial Officer at 
National Water Company

5 AbdulRahman Mohammed 
Abdulrahman Al-Zweidi

Member of 
Nominations 
and 
Remunerations 
committee at 
Saudi Electronic 
Information 
Exchange 
Company

Chief Executive 
Officer at Med 
Gulf Insurance 
and Reinsurance 
Company

• Bachelor of Finance and 
Banking

• General Manager at 
Governance of Saudi 
Investment Bank

• Advisor at Saudi Investment 
Bank

• General Manager, Corporate 
Banking Group at Al Rajhi 
Bank

• Director of Corporate 
Banking Group at National 
Commercial Bank

6 Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali

Quality Control 
Director at 
Zahart Al Waha 
For Trading 
Company

Quality Control 
Director at 
Takween 
Advanced 
Industries 
Company

• Bachelor of Chemistry
• Diploma in Analytical 

Chemistry --

Table (11): The names of the members of the Board of Directors for the current period ending 
on 26/12/2021
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Composition of the Board of Directors and classification of its members as follows:

Board of Directors meetings:

The Board of Directors meets at least four times per year, not less 

than one meeting every three months at the invitation of its Chairman, 

and the invitation shall be in writing or by registered letter or by 

e-mail, and the Board Chairman shall invite the Board to the meeting 

whenever requested by two members.

The board meeting shall not be valid unless at least half of the 

members attended it, provided that the number of attendees is not 

less than 3 members by origin, and a member of the board of directors 

may delegate other members to attend the board meetings according 

to the following conditions:

Table (12): Composition of the Board of Directors and classification of its members:

2.1 Table (13): Record of attending Board of Directors meetings for the year 2019 and the total number of (5) meetings:

No. Member's name Position Classification

1 Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim Altheyab Board Chairman Non-Executive/ Non-Independent

2 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh AlSedhan Board Vice Chairman Non-Executive/ Independent

3 George Abdulkarim George Moussa CEO and Board Member Executive Member/ Non-Independent

4 Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid Azhari Board Member Non-Executive /Independent

5 AbdulRahman Mohammed Abdulrahman 
Al-Zweidi Board Member Non-Executive /Independent

6 Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali Board Member Non-Executive /Non-Independent

No. Member's name
Number of meetings

Total Attendance 
RatiosFirst Second Third Fourth Fifth

1 Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim Altheyab 5 100%

2 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh AlSedhan 5 100%

3 George Abdulkarim George Moussa 5 100%

4 Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid Azhari 4 80%

5 AbdulRahman Mohammed Abdulrahman 
Al-Zweidi 5 100%

6 Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali 5 100%

A. A member of the Board of Directors may not represent more than 

one member in attendance that meeting.

B. That the delegation be fixed in writing and on a specific meeting.

C. The deputy may not vote on decisions that prohibit the regime 

from the penitentiary vote on it.

The decisions of the board are issued by most of the opinions of 

the members present or their representatives, and when the opinions 

are equal, the side with whom the chair voted with is likely to vote.

Attended                                                   Absent
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The most important strategic board decisions during the year 
2019
 - To recommend and invite the General Assembly to 

amend the articles of association
 - To recommend and invite the General Assembly to 

amend the Governance Regulations
 - Recommendation and inviting the General Assembly 

to increase the annual bonuses for independent board 
members

 - Recommendation and inviting the General Assembly 
to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year 
ending on 31/12/2018

OWNERSHIP OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY’S SHARES
Table (14): The shares owned by the members of the Board of Directors of the company at the beginning and end of the year 2019 and their 
percentage of the total number of shares of the company, including the membership shares of the Board:

No. Member’s name

shares owned by the members

Number of shares at
Beginning of the year 

2019
Ratio to total shares

Number of shares at
Ending of the year 2019

Ratio to total shares

1 Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim Altheyab 10,350,000 %69 10,500,000 %70

2 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh AlSedhan -- -- -- --

3 George Abdulkarim George Moussa -- -- -- --

4 Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid Azhari -- -- -- --

5 AbdulRahman Mohammed Abdulrahman 
Al-Zweidi -- -- -- --

6 Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali -- -- -- --

The methods have been used by the Board of Directors to evaluate 

its performance, the performance of its committees and members, 

and the executive management

The Board of Directors has followed various methods that enable 

it to evaluate its performance and the performance of its members 

and committees, based on performance measurement indicators 

approved in the “Performance Appraisal Policy and Procedures 

for Board Members, Emerging Committees, and Executive 

Management” proposed by the Remuneration and Nominations 

Committee, where the Board took into account, when determining 

its fairness, suitability, and consistency with The company’s 

activity, strategy and objectives, the extent of the interaction of a 

member of the Board of Directors and his ability to present creative 

and innovative ideas. The policy has included several elements, the 

most important of which are:

A. PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT STANDARDS 
FOR THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES
1. The extent of the effectiveness of discussions of members of the 

Board and its committees to achieve the company’s goals and 
strategic plan and its reflection on the topics raised during the 
year.

2. The extent of the commitment of members of the Council and 
its committees to the procedures required to be applied in the 
meetings.

3. The extent of commitment of the Board committees to the tasks 
assigned to them by the Board of Directors.

4. To what extent there are clear and open communication channels 
during the meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees 
to provide meaningful reviews and decisions.

5. The extent to which members of the Council received a written 
agenda in advance, and a brief notice on the topics of the meeting 

and its timing, well in advance of the meeting.

B. STANDARDS FOR MEASURING PERFORMANCE 
FOR MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES
1. Allocate time for the company’s issues and needs to be able to 

make decisions properly. And the extent of understanding of 
the member of the Board of Directors and the committees on 
technical matters.

2. Spend enough time with the CEO to understand long-term 
plans. And the possibility of a member of the board of directors 
and committees communicating with the chairman of the board 
of directors if necessary, the extent of his understanding and 

 - Recommendation and invitation to the General 
Assembly to approve the distribution of profits for the 
fiscal year 2018 at SAR 1 per share, for a total of SAR 
15 million.

 - Recommendation and inviting the General Assembly 
to appoint the auditor for the financial year ending 
on 31/12/2019 and the first quarter ended on 
31/03/2020.

 - Recommendation and inviting the General Assembly to 
distribute interim dividends for the first half of the fiscal 
year ending 31/12/2019 at Halalas 75 per share, for a 

total of SAR 11.25 million.



ANNUAL
REPORT
201936

understanding of the company sector and the field in which it 
operates.

3. The extent of the ability of the board member to express an 
opinion on the strategy and direction of the company whenever it 
becomes necessary.

4. 4 The objectivity of the board member in facing difficult decisions. 
And the extent of his ability to express his opinion during the 
meeting, even if the point of view is different from other members 
of the Council.

C. PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT STANDARDS 
FOR EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT (CEO / SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES)

The performance of the CEO and senior executives is evaluated 

with a view to reviewing the company’s strategic goals and operational 

goals and aligning it with the career goals to be accomplished, and 

defining the goals that must be developed, periodically in accordance 

with the following criteria:

1. Strategic Planning: It works to ensure the development of a long-

term strategy, and establishes goals and plans that meet the needs 

of shareholders, customers, employees and every stakeholder 

in the company, and also ensures consistent and appropriate 

progress in its timing towards achieving strategic goals. It also 

obtains resources and allocates them in a manner consistent with 

the strategic goals and reports regularly to the CEO / Board of 

Directors on the progress made towards the basic stages of the 

strategic plan.

2. Leadership: It develops and provides a clear and coherent vision 

of the company’s values and goals and ensuring that they are 

fully understood and that they find broad support and effective 

implementation within the company. It also promotes a culture in 

the company that encourages, appreciates and rewards leadership, 

excellence and innovation, as well as guarantees concepts that 

advance moral norms, individual integrity, and cooperation that 

establishes values.

3. Financial results: It establishes and achieves appropriate annual 

and long-term financial performance goals. It also ensures the 

development and maintenance of appropriate systems to protect 

the company’s assets and emphasizes effective control over 

operations.
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The remuneration of members of the Board 
of Directors, its sub-committees and the 
management

According to Article Twenty-One of the company’s articles of 

association, which determines the remuneration of the members of 

the Board of Directors

The remuneration of a member of the board of directors, if any, 

consists of a certain amount as estimated by the ordinary general 

assembly, provided that the sum of the remuneration of a member 

of the board of directors does not exceed the sum of five hundred 

thousand riyals annually within the limits stipulated in the corporate 

system and regulations, and the report of the board of directors to 

the general assembly must include The regular report contains a 

comprehensive statement of all the remuneration, expenses and other 

benefits that the members of the Board received during the fiscal year, 

and that the report also includes a statement of what the members of 

the Board received as workers or administrators or what they received 

in exchange for technical or administrative works or consultations, and 

that it also includes Statement of the number of pain sessions Board 

and the number of meetings attended by each member of the last 

meeting of the General Assembly.

The Ordinary General Assembly agreed at its meeting No. 2 of 

2019 on 23/06/2019, based on the recommendation of the Board of 

Directors at its meeting No. 2 of 2019 on 18/03/2019 to approve the 

list of bonuses for members of the Board of Directors and committees 

affiliated with the Board of Directors and the executive management 

as shown below:

The “Remuneration Policy for Board Members and Committees 

of the Board and Executive Management” has been prepared by the 

Nominations and Remunerations Committee of Zahrat Al Waha For 

Trading Company in order to organize the exchange of bonuses and 

allowances to attend sessions of members of the Board of Directors 

and committees affiliated with the Board and executive management 

remunerations in accordance with: 

1. First Paragraph (1) of Article (61) “Competencies of the Remuneration 

Committee” from the Corporate Governance Regulations issued by 

the Board of the Capital Market Authority.

2. Article (62) “Remuneration Policy” from the Corporate Governance 

Regulations issued by the Board of the Capital Market Authority.

3. Article (21) “Board Members Remuneration” from the articles of 

association of Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company.

4. Thirty-ninth Article (39) “Remuneration of the members of the 

Board of Directors” from the Corporate Governance Regulations of 

Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company.

5. Paragraph eleventh (11) of Article 66 (66) “Tasks and 

Responsibilities of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee” 

from the Corporate Governance Regulations of Zahrat Al Waha For 

Trading Company.

The purpose of policies
The purpose of this policy is to set clear and specific criteria for 

remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and committees 

affiliated with the Board of Directors and executive management in 

accordance with the requirements of the companies system and the 

regulations and regulations of the Saudi Capital Market Authority and 

the regulations of Zahrat Al Waha For Trading Company. The policy 

also aims to attract, maintain and motivate professional competencies 

and expertise, as it aims To attract those who have a degree of 

competence and experience in order to work in the board of directors 

and committees affiliated with the board and executive management, 

which will have an impact in improving the company’s performance 

and achieving the interests of its shareholders.

General Criteria for Remuneration:
One of the tasks and responsibilities of the Nominations 

and Remunerations Committee is to prepare a clear policy for 

the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and 

members of the committees affiliated with the Board of Directors and 

executive management, and submit them to the Board of Directors 

for consideration in preparation for their approval by the General 

Assembly, provided that the policy takes into account the following 

criteria related to performance, disclosure and verification of their 

implementation .

Without prejudice to the provisions of the corporate and financial 

market regulations and their implementing regulations, the following 

remuneration policy should consider:

1. Its consistency with the company’s strategy and goals.

2. The bonuses should be presented for the purpose of urging the 
members of the board of directors and committees affiliated with 
the board of directors and the executive management to make the 
company a long-term success and development, such as linking 
the changing part of the bonuses with long-term performance.

3. The remuneration should be determined based on the job level, the 
tasks and responsibilities assigned to it, academic qualifications, 
practical experience, skills and level of performance.

4. Its consistency with the size, nature and degree of risk with the 
company.

5. Taking into consideration the practices of other companies in 
determining remuneration, while avoiding the unjustified rise in 
bonuses and compensation that may result from that.

6. It aims to attract, maintain and motivate professional competencies, 
without exaggerating them.
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7. Cases of stopping the payment of the reward or its recovery if it was 
found that it was decided on the basis of inaccurate information 
provided by a member of the Board of Directors or a member of 
the committees affiliated with the Board of Directors or a member 
of the Executive Management in order to prevent the exploitation 
of the position to obtain unpaid bonuses.

8. Regulating the granting of shares in the company to members of 
the board of directors and members of committees affiliated with 
the board of directors and executive management, whether it is a 

new issue or shares bought by the company.

A. Remuneration of Board Members:
1. The remuneration of a member of the Board of Directors, if 

any, consists of a certain amount as estimated by the General 
Assembly, provided that the sum of the remuneration of a member 
of the Board of Directors does not exceed the sum of five hundred 
thousand riyals (500,000 riyals) annually, in accordance with the 
official decisions and instructions issued in this regard. The limits 
of what is stipulated in the Companies Law and its bylaws or any 
other complementary regulations thereof, including the regulatory 
controls and procedures issued by the Saudi Capital Market 
Authority in implementation of the companies ’system for listed 
joint stock companies.

2. The report of the Board of Directors to the General Assembly 
must include a comprehensive statement of all the remunerations, 
expenses, and other benefits that members of the Board received 
during the fiscal year, and that the report also includes a statement 
of what members of the Board received as workers or administrators 
or what they received In exchange for technical, administrative or 
consulting works, and also includes a statement of the number of 
meetings of the Board of Directors and the number of sessions 
attended by each member and the attendance allowances during 
the fiscal year.

3. The Board of Directors shall consider in determining and disbursing 
the remunerations that each of its members receive.

a. The remuneration should be fair and commensurate with the 
functions of the member and the actions and responsibilities 
undertaken and assumed by the members of the Board of 
Directors, in addition to the objectives specified by the Board of 
Directors to be achieved during the fiscal year.

b. The remuneration should be based on the recommendation of 
the Remuneration and Nominations Committee.

c. The remuneration should be commensurate with the company’s 
activity and the tasks needed to manage it.

d. Taking into consideration the sector in which the company 
operates, its size and the experience of the members of the 
Board of Directors.

e. The remuneration should be reasonably enough to attract, 
motivate, preserve and retain board members with competencies 
and experience.

B. Remuneration for committee members, board 
secretariat and committees:
1. Rewarding the Audit Committee Members:

a. The general assembly determines the remuneration of the 
members of the audit committee based on the recommendation 
of the Board of Directors.

b. Each member of the audit committee is entitled to a attendance 
allowance for each committee session determined by the general 
assembly.

c. Members of the audit committee residing outside the city of 
Riyadh are entitled to compensation for travel costs in return for 
attending the meeting. These costs include a round-trip travel 
ticket from the place of residence to the company’s main site 
in Riyadh or the location of the meeting in addition to any other 
costs associated with residence and transportation.

d. The Board of Directors’ reports submitted to the General 
Assembly should disclose the compensation and other amounts 
paid to the members of the Audit Committee, including travel 
expenses, if the meeting is held outside the city of Riyadh.

2. Remuneration of members of the Nomination, 
Remuneration and Committees Committee 
of the Board of Directors except for the audit 

committee:
1. The Board of Directors determines the remuneration of the 

members of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee and 
the committees affiliated with the Board of Directors.

2. Each member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and 
the committees affiliated with the Board of Directors are entitled 
to receive an attendance allowance for each of the committee’s 
sessions determined by the Board.

3. Members of the Nomination, Remuneration and Committees 
Committee affiliated with the Board of Directors residing outside 
Riyadh are entitled to compensation for travel costs in return for 
attending the meeting, these costs include a round-trip travel ticket 
from its place of residence to the company’s main site in Riyadh 
or the venue of the meeting in addition to any other related costs 
Accommodation and transportation.

4. The reports of the Board of Directors submitted to the General 
Assembly must disclose the compensation and other amounts paid 
to the members of the Nomination, Remuneration and Committees 
Committee of the Board of Directors, including travel expenses, if 
the meeting is held outside the city of Riyadh.
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee reviews the general 

policy for salaries and benefits and incentive and bonus plans for all 

company employees as well as senior executives on a continuous and 

periodic basis and approves them by the Board of Directors based on 

a recommendation from the Executive Management.

The executive management’s remuneration, benefits, and 

incentives include the following:

1. The basic salary that is paid monthly at the end of each calendar 
month.

2. Allowances and benefits include, but are not limited to (housing 
allowance, transportation allowance or car insurance, phone 
allowance, and child education allowance; etc).

3. Other benefits include, but are not limited to (annual leave, annual 
travel tickets, end-of-service benefits according to the Saudi Labor 
Law and the HR policy approved by the company.

4. Medical insurance for senior executives and their families.

5. Social insurance.

6. The annual bonuses and incentives related to performance 
indicators, according to the annual evaluation carried out in this 
regard.

7. Short-term and long-term incentive plans and programs.

8. Review the general policies, plans and programs for senior 
executives’ remunerations by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and submit them to the Board of Directors for baptism.

9. The CEO shall implement the remuneration policy for employees 
and senior executives considering the general policies, plans 
and programs approved by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.

10. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee reviews the 
payment of annual incentives and bonuses to the CEO and submits 
them to the Board of Directors for approval.

Additional determinants of remuneration and 
the method of exchange:

1. The Board of Directors is responsible for determining and approving 
attendance bonuses and allowances and other entitlements based 
on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee for the members of its committees except for the audit 
committee approved by the General Assembly.

2. The remuneration of the members of the committees affiliated with 
the Board of Directors consists of an annual bonus (lump sum) 
and the allowances for attending meetings and other entitlements 
according to what is stated in this policy.

3. The remuneration of the members of the Audit Committee is 
approved by the General Assembly and upon the recommendation 
of the Board of Directors.

Executive Management Remuneration

Allowance to attend one session SAR 3,000

Remuneration of the independent 
board member (Deducted Sum) SAR 100,000

Remuneration of a non-independent 
board member SAR 0

Allowance to attend one session SAR 3,000

Remuneration of the independent 
committee member (Deducted Sum) SAR 30,000

Allowance to attend one session SAR 2,000

Remuneration of the independent 
committee member (Deducted Sum) SAR 20,000

4. The total remuneration received by the member for his membership 
in the Board of Directors and committees affiliated with the 
Board must not exceed the upper limit stipulated in the articles 
of association of the company only five hundred thousand riyals 
annually (500,000 riyals annually).

5. Board Members:

Allowance for attending meetings and other allowances is paid 
annually, while the annual severed bonus is paid after its approval by 
the General Assembly.

6. Members of the Audit Committee:

7. Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee:
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Board of Directors remuneration

Board Member

Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration
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1. Independence members:

Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh 
AlSedhan

0

15,000

17,000

0 0 0

3,2000

0

100,000

0 0 0

100,000

0 0

132,000

Taha Mohammed Abdul 
Wahid Azhari

0

15,000

1,5000

0 0 0

30,000

0

100,000

0 0 0

100,000

0 0

130,000

AbdulRahman Mohammed 
Abdulrahman Al-Zweidi

0

15,000

0 0 0 0

15,000

0

100,000

0 0 0

100,000

0 0

115,000

Total 0

45,000

32,000

0 0 0

77,000

0

300,000

0 0 0

300,000

0 0

377,000

2. Non-Executives members:

Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim 
Altheyab

0

15,000

0 0 0 0

15,000

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

15,000

Total

0

15,000

0 0 0 0

15,000

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

15,000

3. Executives members:

George Abdulkarim George 
Moussa

0

15,000

0

726,000

410,000

0

1,151,000

0

102,500

0 0 0

102,500 

190,231

0

1,443,731

Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali 0

15,000

0 0

259,200

0

274,200

0

32,000

0 0 0

32,000

38,170

0

344,370

Total

0

30,000

0

726,000

669,200

0

1,425,200

0

134,500

0 0 0

134,500

228,401

0

1,788,101

Totals

0

90,000

32,000

726,000

669,200

0

1,502,200

0

434,500

0 0 0

528,401

228,401

0

2,165,101

Table (15): Remuneration of Board Members during the year 2019:
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Membership of the board members of other companies

Table (16): Membership of Board Members of other companies

No. Member's name

Names of 
companies 
for which a 
member of 

the board of 
directors is 

a member of 
their current 

boards or 
directors

Inside / 
outside the 
Kingdom

The legal 
entity

Names of 
companies for 

which a member 
of the board of 
directors is a 

member of their 
previous boards 

or directors

Inside / 
outside the 
Kingdom

The legal 
entity

1 Ahmed Hammoud 
Ibrahim Altheyab

Hana Food 
Industries 
Company

Inside the 
Kingdom

closed joint 
stock -- -- --

2
Tarek 

AbdulRahman 
Saleh AlSedhan

Riyad Bank Inside the 
Kingdom

Public joint 
stock -- -- --

3
George 

Abdulkarim 
George Moussa

-- -- -- -- -- --

4
Taha Mohammed 

Abdul Wahid 
Azhari

Batic 
Investments 

and Logistics 
Company

Inside the 
Kingdom

Public joint 
stock -- -- --

5

AbdulRahman 
Mohammed 

Abdulrahman Al-
Zweidi

-- -- --
Med Gulf Insurance 

and Reinsurance 
Company

Inside the 
Kingdom

Public joint 
stock

6 Ahmed Hassan 
Ahmed Ali -- -- -- -- -- --
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B. BOARD COMMITTEES

1. Formation of committees

According to Article (46) of the Corporate Governance 

Regulations - formation of Board Committees

Subject to Article (101) of the Companies Law and Article 

(50) of the Corporate Governance Regulations, the Board of 

Directors shall form specialized committees according to the 

following: 

1. The company’s need, conditions and conditions to enable it to 
perform its duties effectively.

2. The formation of committees affiliated with the Board of Directors 
shall be in accordance with general procedures set by the Board 

No. Member's name Current Position Previous 
Position Qualifications Experiences

1 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh 
AlSedhan

Chief Executive 
Officer at Riyad 

Bank

Advisor to the 
Chairman at 
the Board of 
Directors of 

Saudi Fund for 
Development

• Bachelor of Accounting
• Diploma in International Trade 

- University of Edinburgh, 
Scotland

• MBA - University Enpc Paris 
France

• Member of the American 
Institute of Licensed 
Accountants AICPA 

• Member of the Institute of 
Internal Audit IIA 

• Member of the Saudi Licensed 
Public Accountants Authority 
SOCPA

• Director General in charge at General 
Authority for Zakat and Income

• Deputy Governor of the Arab Monetary 
Agency for Oversight at Saudi Arabian 
Monetary Institution

• Chief Executive Officer at KPMG 
Auditors and Chartered Accountants

2 Turky Naser Ahmed Alshaher

Human 
Resources 

General 
Manager 
at Trans 

Contracting 
Company

Administration 
Manager at 

Arabtec Jardine 
& Co.

Diploma in IT

• Human Resources Director at Hana 
Food Industries

• Human Resources Administrative 
Director at Al Harbi Trading and 
Contracting Company

• General Manager, Mashael Al-Ruwwad 
Company

• Administrative Director and Human 
Resources manager at Gulf Investment 
Company

• Administrative Director at Al Seef Group

3 Mahmoud Mohammed Zaky 
Algamry

Chief Financial 
Officer at 

Zahart Al Waha 
For Trading 
Company

Finance 
Manager at 

Zahart Al Waha 
For Trading 
Company

• Bachelor of Commerce Majoring 
in Accounting

• Diploma in Business 
Administration

• Mini MBA Diploma
• Diploma of project management 

specialist program
• APICS CPIM Basics of Supply 

Chain Management Diploma

• Accounting and Costing Manager at 
Union Technology Union Aire Group - 
Egypt Deputy 

• Accounting Manager at Union 
Technology Union Aire Group – Egypt

• Accounting Manager at Khalid Al Musa 
Furniture Company - Saudi Arabia

• Financial Accountant and Cost 
Accountant at Engineering Industries 
Union Aire group – Egypt

• External Auditor at Auditor’s Office - 
Egypt

Table (17) Nomination and Remuneration:

of Directors, which include defining the mission of the Committee, 
the duration of its work, the powers granted to it during this 
period, and how the Board of Directors monitors it, and the 
Committee must inform the Board of Directors of what it is doing, 
or It arrives at it from results, or takes decisions, with absolute 
transparency, and the board of directors must monitor the work of 
the committees periodically to verify that they carry out the tasks 
entrusted to them.

3. Each committee shall be responsible for its actions before the board 
of directors, and this shall not prejudice the board’s responsibility 
for those actions and the powers or powers delegated to it.

4. The number of committee members should not be less than three 
and not more than five.

B.1 committee Nomination and Remuneration

According to Article 46 (46) of the Company’s Governance Regulations, the Board of Directors is the one who forms specialized committees 

according to the company’s need, conditions, and conditions.
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B.2 Audit Committee

According to the text of Article (50) of the Governance Regulations, the Board of Directors on 16/02/2017 formed the Audit Committee, and the 

company’s Extraordinary General Assembly on 11/04/2017 approved this formation, and the Committee held its first meeting on 16/04/2017.

No. Member's name Current 
Position

Previous 
Position Qualifications Experiences

1 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh 
AlSedhan

Chief Executive 
Officer at Riyad 

Bank

Advisor to the 
Chairman at 
the Board of 
Directors of 

Saudi Fund for 
Development

• Bachelor of Accounting
• Diploma in International Trade 

- University of Edinburgh, 
Scotland

• MBA - University Enpc Paris 
France

• Member of the American 
Institute of Licensed 
Accountants AICPA 

• Member of the Institute of 
Internal Audit IIA 

• Member of the Saudi Licensed 
Public Accountants Authority 
SOCPA

• Director General in charge at 
General Authority for Zakat and 
Income

• Deputy Governor at the Arab 
Monetary Agency for Oversight 
of Saudi Arabian Monetary 
Institution

• Chief Executive Officer at 
KPMG Auditors and Chartered 
Accountants

2 Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid 
Azhari

Internal Audit 
Director at 
Saudi Civil 

Aviation Holding 
Company

Chief Financial 
Officer at 

Saudi Civil 
Aviation Holding 

Company

Bachelor of Accounting

• Chairman of Audit Committee at 
Hana Food Industries Company

• Chairman of Audit Committee at 
Batic Investments and Logistics 
Company

• Member of the Board of Directors 
at Batic Investments and Logistics 
Company

• Member of Audit Committee 
at Zahart Al Waha For Trading 
Company

• Member of Audit Committee at Al 
Jazeera Bank

• Economic Advisor at National 
Water Company

• Chief Financial Officer at National 
Water Company

3 Ahmed Khader Mohammed Harara

Financial 
Director at 
Mannoa for 
Trade and 

Contracting

Executive 
Director at 
Ernst and 

Young Auditors 
and Chartered 
Accountants

Bachelor of Accounting Supervisor Audit at Anderson’s 
Office 

Table (18) Audit Committee:
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2. TASKS OF THE COMMITTEES AND ATTENDING 
MEETINGS
A. NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

The committee’s tasks and responsibilities include the following:

1. To suggest clear policies and standards for membership in the 

Board of Directors and Executive Management.

2. Recommend to the Board of Directors to nominate them for 

membership in the Board in accordance with the approved 

policies and standards, taking into consideration that no person 

previously convicted of a crime against honor and honesty should 

be nominated.

3. Preparing a description of the capabilities and qualifications 

required for membership of the Board of Directors and filling 

executive management positions.

4. Specifying the time that the member must allocate to the work of 

the Board of Directors.

5. Annual review of the required skills requirements appropriate for a 

member of the Board of Directors and preparation of a description 

of the capabilities and qualifications required for membership of 

the Board of Directors, including determining the time required to 

allocate from the member to the work of the Board of Directors.

6. Reviewing the structure of the Board of Directors and submitting 

recommendations regarding changes that can be made.

7. Establish a job description for the executive members, non-executive 

members, independent members and senior executives.

Setting special procedures in the event of vacancy of the position 

of a member of the Board of Directors or senior executives.

Determine the weaknesses and strengths of the Board of Directors 

and suggest that they be addressed in line with the company’s interest.

Ensuring annually the independence of the independent members, 

and the absence of any conflict of interest if the member is a member 

of the board of directors of another company.

Prepare a clear policy for the remuneration of the members 

of the board of directors and the committees emanating from the 

board and the executive management, and submit it to the board of 

directors for consideration in preparation for approval by the general 

assembly, provided that in this policy, it is taken into account to follow 

criteria related to performance, disclosure and verification of their 

implementation.

Clarify the relationship between the remuneration granted and the 

applicable remuneration policy and indicate any significant deviation 

from this policy.

Periodic review of the remuneration policy, and evaluation of its 

effectiveness in achieving the objectives envisaged from it.

Recommend to the Board of Directors the remunerations of the 

members of the Board of Directors, the committees emanating from 

it and the senior executives of the company in accordance with the 

approved policy.

The company shall publish the candidacy announcement on the 

company’s website and the website of the Tadawul disclosure and in 

any other way specified by the Saudi Capital Market Authority to invite 

the persons who wish to run for membership in the Board of Directors, 

provided that the nomination door remains open for at least one month 

from the date of the announcement.

AUTHORITY OF THE NOMINATION AND 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
1. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is entitled to obtain 

all the necessary resources and information for it to perform its 

duties and responsibilities.

2. The Nominations and Remunerations Committee has the right to 

form sub-committees with the approval of the Board of Directors 

for any purpose it deems appropriate. It also has the right to grant 

these sub-committees some of their powers and powers whenever 

they see fit, provided that the number of members of any of the sub-

committees of these committees is not less than two members.

3. The committee has the right to request the presence of any 

director, official, or employee of the company, or any persons that 

the committee needs to consult and negotiate with them, at any 

meeting of the committee to provide the necessary information 

required by the committee.
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Table (19): Names of members of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee and the percentage of 
attendance at the Committee’s meetings:

No. Member's name Position
Number of meetings (2) attendance

ratios
First Second

1 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh AlSedhan Chairman 100%

2 Turky Naser Ahmed Alshaher Member 100%

3 Mahmoud Mohammed Zaky Algamry Member 100%

B. Audit Committee 

Tasks of the audit committee

Tasks of the audit committee

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in carrying out 

its oversight functions efficiently and effectively, with a focus on the following points:

1. Oversee the company’s internal audit department, in order to verify its effectiveness in 

carrying out the tasks and tasks assigned to it by the Board of Directors.

2. Study the internal control system and draw up a written report on its opinion and 

recommendations thereon.

3. Study the internal audit reports and follow up on the implementation of the corrective 

actions of the observations contained therein.

4. Recommend to the Board of Directors the appointment and dismissal of chartered 

accountants, and when considering the recommendation, consideration must be given to 

ensuring their independence.

5. Study the audit plan with the chartered accountant and make observations thereon.

6. Study the notes of the chartered accountant on the financial statements and follow up on 

what has been done in this regard.

7. Study the preliminary and annual financial statements before submitting them to the Board 

of Directors and express an opinion and recommendation in this regard.

8. Ensure that the company meets the specified plans and goals.

9. Ensure the compliance with regulations and laws.

Table (20): Names of members of the audit committee and attendance rate of committee meetings:

No. Member's name
Number of meetings (6) Attendance 

RatiosFirst Second Third Fourth Fifth Sixth

1 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh AlSedhan 100%

2 Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid Azhari 66.66%

3 Ahmed Khader Mohammed Harara 83.33%

Attended                                                   

Attended                                                   

Absent

Absent

Hany Mamdouh Aly El Sayed, CIA
Internal Audit & Risks Director

Audit Committee Secretary
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The results of the internal audit and evaluation of 
the effectiveness of the internal control system:
First: Foundations of Internal Control and Application of Control Cycle 

in the Company:

Considering the internal control reports, the Audit Committee 

reviews the control cycle for all activities of the company, based on 

the following:

1. Ensuring that application of laws and regulations is sound in order 
to enhance confidence in the subsidiary’s reports.

2. Evaluating administrative, financial, operational and marketing 
policies and procedures for each company in line with nature of 
business.

3. Ensuring and verifying accuracy of information stated in the 
periodic reports of these companies.

4. Ability to take suitable decisions through identifying problems 
and setbacks and working on solving them as a type of preventive 
control.

5. The Audit Committee follows up the extent of compliance in 
applying the financial control program adopted by the board to 
control company investments.

Second: Findings of the Annual Review of Internal Control Efficacy 

most important material measures and remarks are as follows:

Considering the actions of the committee during the year ending 31 

December 2019, and the internal audit actions carried out during the 

year ending 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee has found no 

material weakness in the internal control measures developed by the 

company. The committee continues to recommend to the company 

management to continuously follow up developing and improving the 

efficiency and efficacy of applicable internal controls and the necessity 

to update the company’s policies and procedures on an ongoing basis.

Risks and Management Policy to Address Them
Like most of the companies, the company works in a multiple risk and 

rapidly changing environment. Under such challenges, the company 

strives hard to develop and expand its business through utilizing all 

available investment opportunities. Based on complete awareness of 

risks related to

company’s vision, the company has analyzed and managed the risks 

to protect its current and future business and provided preventive 

and interactive measures for potential risks. The company also works 

on consolidating strategies and processes as well as directing and 

training

employees to adopt a consolidated approach to manage the risks that 

could encounter the company in the future.

To reach this goal and help in realizing its strategic objectives, the Risk 

Management Process identifies and analyses the risks encountered by 

the company in two ways:

• Risks assessment: Analyzing risks and working on remedying 
them to avoid occurrence or mitigate their impact in the event of 
occurrence.

• Business continuity: Through raising the level of preparation and 

readiness to deal with the risks upon occurrence.

To realize its strategic objectives, the company has developed 

appropriate measures to assess risks related to strategic decisions in 

addition to

providing support to assess risks related to some strategic businesses.

First: Risks Management Approach in the Company

Risk management is a process for measuring and assessing potential 

risks and developing risks management strategies. This is to ensure 

addressing these risks in a preventive manner and facilitating work 

on early detection of actual problems in order to minimize its negative 

impacts on the company. Prioritizing risks is the ideal approach of the 

risk’s management process.

Accordingly, risks, which may cause significant losses or material 

impacts, may be remedied, while risks with less impact may be 

remedied at later stage.

Second: Why is the company attentive to the risk management process?

• Strengthening control of risks that surround the company activities 
and businesses.

• Determining quality remedy for each type of risks.

• Working on mitigating losses and minimizing them as much as 
possible.

• Instilling appropriate confidence for all company stakeholders, 
particularly shareholders, creditors, suppliers and clients, to protect 
the ability to generate profits despite any casual losses that may 

cause reduced or unrealizable profits.

Third: Company philosophy in addressing risks

The company philosophy stipulates that risks are an integral part of 

any profit-making activity, especially in the industrial sector. Therefore, 

the company deals with risks through classifying them into four major 

groups, including the following:

1. Avoidance of risks: which means attempt to avoid activities that 
may cause a risk.

2. Reducing risks: Through reducing investment volume, which 
causes such risk or engaging third parties in accounting for the 
risk.

3. Transfer of risks: Through securing means that help in accepting 
the risk, which is usually made via contracts or financial protection 
such as insurance contracts.

4. Acceptance to endure the risk: which means that the management 
accepts losses upon occurrence. This is may be acceptable in small 

risks.
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Fourth: Most important risks encountering the company

The risks set forth below (whether operational, financing or market 

risks) do not include all risks that may encounter the company. 

Additional risks

are possible, but they are either not known to the company during 

the current period or considered immaterial by the company as 

they do not impede its business. To that effect, the company has 

prepared a register for the risks that may encounter the company and 

control points that will reduce the impact of such risks, in the event 

of occurrence or impedance of company business. These risks are 

summarized as follows:

1- International Economic Fluctuations and Financial Crises

It is not only the local economy that affects the company, as its 

operations and expansions are impacted by the international economic

circumstances. The company with no doubt is also affected by the 

international financial crises that arise from time to time. This may 

require current

potential clients of the company to reduce expending on its products, 

which consequently has a negative impact on its profitability

considering the company has in particular a big percentage of clients 

outside the kingdom. In addition, the financial institutions, which the 

company deals with may be affected. The time, strength or period of 

any subsequent economic slow-down or recovery is unpredictable.

2- Regional Political and Economic Situations

There are some political fluctuations in the region that extend many 

countries which the company deals with. Reaching some of the clients 

in these regions may be adversely affected and consequently affecting 

one of the important strategic objectives of the company targeting 

new markets and diversifying income sources.

3- Competitive Landscape

The company growth and maximizing its profitability is closely linked 

to its ability to compete and maintain its pioneer position among other 

local and international companies through maintaining the quality 

and diversity of its products. However, the competitive landscape 

may force the company to reduce some of its prices to keep its major 

clients and market share.

4- Key Suppliers

Reliance on one key supplier of raw materials used by the company 

to manufacture its products is one of the biggest risks that receives 

special attention from the company. The main supplier directly affects 

the key activities of the company if supply stops for any reason or 

if the supplier has refrained from supply of raw materials for any 

consideration not to mention his exclusive eligibility to determine 

pricing levels of raw materials. On the other hand, the company is not 

sufficiently able to import such materials from the international market 

in higher prices due to customs fees considerations, transportation, 

storage and other fees not to mention the difficulty of obtaining 

approval of the concerned authorities to import a locally available 

product.

5- Prices of Energy Products and Raw Materials

Company sales and profitability rely directly on two main elements, i.e. 

prices of energy products and prices of raw materials. The company 

can’t predict such prices especially with the recent governmental 

resolutions, which included rise in energy products prices and an 

unclear vision to increasing these prices in the future in addition 

to fluctuation of raw material prices in line with the fluctuation of 

oil prices internationally. This is expected to recur in the future. The 

company performance is partially dependent on its ability to embed 

these changes in costs in the products sale prices.

6- Interruption of Operations and Sudden Disruption

Work of the company is undertaken by the laborers on split basis to 

ensure the factory continuity to run round the clock, seven days a 

week. There are some risks that may adversely affect the operational 

efficiency of the company disruptions, VIP personnel related accidents 

and outage of electricity or water. This may result in increase of costs 

and decrease of returns and profits. The company can’t make any 

guarantees that its operations will not be disrupted despite meeting 

all continuous periodic and preventive maintenance standards.

7- Company Resources Management System

All departments of the company are mainly dependent on the 

computer systems in the management of its assets and control of its 

activities and financial records. It also uses the resources management 

system in all of its financial, administrative and operational processes. 

Consequently, any failure in this system or dispute with respect to 

the rights of its ownership, etc. will adversely affect operations and 

smooth business of the company. To avoid this, the company is keen 

to make the required updates to the system on periodic basis through 

one of the specialist advisors. Contracting with a specialist company 

is underway to store a backup copy of all information.

8- Foreign Exchange Prices and Interest Rates

In all of its international imports and exports, the company deals with 

currencies that are closely linked to the Saudi Riyal such as the US 

dollar and Euro. Any fluctuation between the value of the Saudi Riyal 

and any of the said currencies may have an adverse impact on the 



ANNUAL
REPORT
201948

company’s revenues and profits. Any negative change in the exchange 

prices in the non-dollar controlled markets may have a negative 

impact on the company’s profitability as the Saudi Riyal is pegged to 

the US dollar. In addition, fluctuations of rate interests between Saudi 

banks and fluctuation of interest rates internationally and its impact on 

financial institutions which the company may deal with now or in the 

future may increase the costs of lending and would have an adverse 

impact on the results of operations.

9- Insurance Coverage

Although the company has a number of insurance policies related to 

its business in the field of manufacturing, these policies do not provide 

for complete insurance against all potential risks related to its works 

due to the market changing conditions. Premiums and deductibles 

in some policies may significantly increase in some cases. This will 

result in a big increase in operational costs, thus leading to reducing 

the company profitability. Due to this reason, the company contracted 

with an insurance advisor to obtain the best insurance conditions and 

coverage for all risks surrounding the company operational activities.

10- Legislative and Regulatory Environment

The company works in a dynamic legislative environment as it is 

subject to the laws and regulations applicable in the Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia. Such laws and regulations may be subject to change, 

which could affect the company business positively or negatively. The 

company may also amend it products or processes to conform to any 

future changes in such legislations and laws. To minimize negative 

effects resulting from any of these changes, if any, the company will 

always review any changes to the laws applicable locally or in any 

country to where its activity extends. The effect of these amendments 

on the scope of the company business will be then studied and all 

required measures will be taken to minimize the effects of such 

changes or use them in a manner that serves the company business.

11- Labor Laws and Regulations

Legislations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia require adherence to 

achieve a specific Saudization percentage of companies’ jobs through 

the Nitaqt (categories) program, which stipulates a percentage of 

Saudi Nationals in the total number of employees. The company has 

achieved the required percentage and is seeking to saudize a number 

of administrative functions in parallel with its expansion plan, which 

requires a number of laborers in its different departments. Although 

the company believes in the importance of Saudization as a national 

developmental requisite, it faces difficulties and challenges due to the 

nature of its industrial activity, the fact that its business is not suitable 

to national job seekers and its reliance mainly on expatriate labor, 

which makes it difficult to achieve the Saudization and nationalization 

percentages. Related risks will continue especially with the rise of 

labor and employment costs.

12- Environment, Safety and Professional Health

Since the company strives to apply the highest rates of security, safety 

and professional health, it has taken the responsibility to adopt more

stringent criteria to provide safety preventive requirements. This will 

increase company costs, and consequently may adversely affect the 

results of its operations and financial position. In addition, the company 

business and its financial position may be also adversely affected in 

the event of losses or material damages that may result from dealing 

with hazardous materials or in the event of any accidents during 

productions processes that are not covered by insurance policies. 

Therefore, the company considers that maintaining the health and 

safety of its employees and human resources one of its most strategic 

priorities. In addition, all company facilities are subject to local and 

international safety standards.
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C. RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The tasks of risk management were based on the internal audit department by decision of the board of directors at its meeting No. 4 of 2019 on 

17/07/2019 based on the recommendation of the audit committee.

3. Remuneration and allowances of the board committees

Member’s name
Fixed remuneration

(Except for attendance 
allowance)

Attendance allowance Total

- Nominations and Remunerations Committee Members

1 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh 
AlSedhan 20,000 2,000 22,000

2 Turky Naser Ahmed Alshaher -- 2,000 2,000

3 Mahmoud Mohammed Zaky 
Algamry 20,000 2,000 22,000

Total 40,000 6,000 46,000

- Audit Committee Members 

1 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh 
AlSedhan 30,000 15,000 45,000

2 Taha Mohammed Abdul 
Wahid Azhari 30,000 15,000 45,000

3 Ahmed Khader Mohammed 
Harara 30,000 15,000 45,000

Total 90,000 45,000 135,000

Total

Table (21) Remunerations and allowances of the board committees during the year 2019:
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No. Member's name Current Position Previous 
Position Qualifications Experiences

1 George Abdulkarim George 
Moussa

Chief Executive 
Officer 

General 
Manager 
of Sales at 
Zahrat Alwaha 
For Trading 
Company

• Bachelor of Marketing and 
Sales

General Manager of Sales at 
Al-Othman Plastic Company - 
Takween

2 Mahmoud Mohammed Zaky 
Algamry

Chief Financial 
Officer 

Finance 
Manager at 
Zahart Al Waha 
For Trading 
Company

• Bachelor of Commerce 
Majoring in Accounting

• Diploma in Business 
Administration

• Mini MBA Diploma
• Diploma of project 

management specialist 
program

• APICS CPIM Basics of 
Supply Chain Management 
Diploma

• Accounting and Costing 
Manager at Union Technology 
Union Aire Group - Egypt 
Deputy 

• Accounting Manager at Union 
Technology Union Aire Group 
– Egypt

• Accounting Manager at Khalid 
Al Musa Furniture Company - 
Saudi Arabia

• Financial Accountant and Cost 
Accountant at Engineering 
Industries Union Aire group 
– Egypt

• External Auditor at Auditor’s 
Office - Egypt

3 Rakan Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim 
Altheyab

Supply Chain 
Director - Training courses in Supply 

Chain -

4 Sherif Ramadan Youssef Zaqzouq
Production and 
Maintenance 
Director

Maintenance 
Director at 
Plastic Factory 
in Hana Food 
Industries

Bachelor of Engineering

• Production and Maintenance 
Director at Medco Plast – 
Egypt

• Maintenance Director at 
Edison Plastic Factory – 
Sudan

• Maintenance Director at 
Medstar – Egypt

• Maintenance Engineer at 
Medstar – Egypt

• Production Engineer at Selim 
Plast Factory - Egypt

5 Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali Quality Director 

Quality Director 
at Takween 
Advanced 
Industries 
Company

• Bachelor of Chemistry
• Diploma in Analytical 

Chemistry -

6 Yasser Ghannam Arafat Al-Khatib Sales Director

Sales supervisor 
at Packaging 
Solutions 
Factory

Bachelor of Information 
Technology specializing 
in computer information 
systems

• Sales supervisor at Installment 
Program

• Sales Coordinator at Coptra 
Graphic Company

• Sales Coordinator at Nawras 
Health Water Company

7 Abdul Mohsen Nasser Salem 
Al-Gremel

Human 
Resources 
Director

Administrative 
Director at Hana 
Food Industries 
Company

Training courses in HR Executive Secretary at Hana 
Food Industries Company

8 Mohammed Abdulaziz Moaajab  
Alhagabani

Acting 
Information 
Technology 
Director

-
Bachelor of Computer 
Science - Information 
Systems Specialist

-

Table (22) jobs, qualifications and experiences of senior executives:

1. JOBS, QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCES OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

C. EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
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Totals

907,030

285,208

0 0 0

870,000

2,062,238

0

207,180

0 0 0

207,180

374,660

0

2,644,078

Table (23): Remunerations of the top five executives, including the CEO and the financial 
manager:

3. Ownership of senior executives

Ownership of senior executives and the ratio to total shares in the company at the end of 2019 compared to their ownership at the beginning of 2019:

Table (24): Ownership of Senior Executives:

No. Senior Executives ‘s name

shares owned by the Senior Executives

Number of shares 
at Beginning of the 

year 2019

Ratio to total 
shares

Number of shares 
at Ending of the 

year 2019

Ratio to total 
shares

1 George Abdulkarim George Moussa 0 0% 0 0%

2 Mahmoud Mohammed Zaky Algamry 0 0% 0 0%

3 Rakan Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim Altheyab 0 0% 0 0%

4 Sherif Ramadan Youssef Zaqzouq 0 0% 0 0%

5 Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali 0 0% 0 0%

6 Yasser Ghannam Arafat Al-Khatib 0 0% 0 0%

7 Abdul Mohsen Nasser Salem Al-Gremel 0 0% 0 0%

8 Mohammed Abdulaziz Moaajab  Alhagabani 0 0% 0 0%

2. Bonuses and compensation paid to senior executives

The total of what was disbursed to senior executives SAR 2.64 million for the year 2019, including periodic and annual salaries, allowances, travel 

and subsistence allowances, as of December 31, 2019, as follows:
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2. THE COMPANY›S OBLIGATIONS TO THE GOVERNANCE REGULATIONS

No. Chapter/ Article number Status Chapter/ Article paragraph Reasons of Non-Apply

1 • Article 70
• Article 71
• Article 72

Indicative Formation of a risk management 
committee
Terms of reference for the risk 
management committee
Risk Management Committee meetings

The company is currently 
implementing the tasks and powers 
related to this committee through the 
audit committee

2 Article 95 Indicative Formation of a corporate governance 
committee

The company is currently 
implementing the tasks and powers 
related to this committee through 
the Board of Directors and its 
subcommittees, by implementing the 
tasks entrusted to it and achieving 
its goals
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3. SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The shareholder in the company shall prove all 
the rights related to the share, especially the 
following:

1. Obtaining his share of the net profits that are to be distributed in 

cash or by issuing shares.

2. The right to obtain his share of the company’s assets upon 

liquidation.

3. Attending the public or private shareholders’ societies, 

participating in its deliberations and voting on its decisions.

4. Dispose of his shares in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Law and the Capital Market Law and their executive 

regulations.

5. Inquiry and request to see the company’s books and documents, 

including data and information related to the company’s activity 

and its operational and investment strategy in a manner that 

does not harm the interests of the company and does not conflict 

with the companies ’system and the financial market system and 

their executive regulations.

6. Monitor the company’s performance and the work of the board 

of directors, by attending the general assemblies and appointing 

auditors.

7. Holding members of the board accountable, filing a liability claim 

against them, and challenging the invalidity of the decisions of 

the public and private shareholders ’societies in accordance 

with the conditions and restrictions mentioned in the corporate 

system and the company’s articles of association.

8. The right to discuss topics on the agenda of the General 

Assembly and to ask questions about them to the members 

of the Board of Directors and the chartered accountant. The 

board of directors or the chartered accountant must answer the 

shareholders ’questions to the extent that it does not endanger 

the company’s interest.

9. The right to appeal to the general assembly, if the shareholder 

is not convinced that the board of directors or the auditor has 

answered his question, and the association’s decision in this 

regard is effective.

10. The right to file a liability action against the members of the 

Board of Directors in accordance with the provisions of Articles 

(76 to 78) of the Companies Law.

11. Priority of subscribing to new shares issued in exchange for cash 

shares, unless the extraordinary general assembly stops work 

the right of priority - if stipulated in the company’s articles of 

association - according to Article 140 of the Companies Law.

12. Restricting his shares in the company’s register of shareholders.

13. Requesting access to a copy of the company’s articles of 

association and articles of association, unless the company 

publishes them on its website.

14. Nomination and election of members of the Board of Directors.

THE SHAREHOLDERS OBTAIN THE INFORMATION
1. The Board of Directors is obligated to work to protect the rights 

of shareholders in a manner that guarantees justice and equality 
between them.

2. The board of directors and the executive management of 
the company are obligated not to distinguish between the 
shareholders who own the same class of shares, and not to 
withhold any right from them.

3. The company should follow the necessary procedures to ensure 
that all shareholders exercise their rights.

4. The Board of Directors is obligated to provide complete, 
clear, correct and non-misleading information to enable the 
shareholder to fully exercise his rights. This information is 
provided in a timely manner and is regularly updated.

5. The means of providing information to the shareholder must be 
clear and detailed, and include a statement of the company’s 
information that the shareholder can obtain, and be made 
available to the general shareholders of the same category.

6. The most effective means of communicating with shareholders 
and not distinguishing between them in providing information 
should be followed.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The dividend policy for the company has been prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the corporate governance 
regulations stipulated in Article (7) thereof and in accordance with 
the corporate system and the company’s articles of association. 
These regulations specify the company policy and procedures for 
distributing and announcing profits and determining the time to pay 
them, the company announces and pays dividends Its quarterly and 
annual financial results, as appropriate, the company seeks to achieve 
a policy to distribute stable and reliable profits from one year to 
another, and the company undertakes to disclose any changes to this 
policy, the company seeks to pay dividends.
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According to Article 48 (48) of the company’s articles of 
association, and according to Chapter 11 (11) of the Company’s 
Governance Regulations and Articles 81 - 82 - 83 - 84 - 85 - 86 
- 87 of the same section, which clarifies the controls for distributing 
and advertising profits, sources and amount of distribution and 
shareholders Those entitled to distribute profits according to the 
following: -

The company’s annual net profits are distributed as follows:

1. The company avoids (10%) of the net profits to form the 
statutory reserve for the company, and the ordinary general 
assembly may decide to suspend this setting aside when the 
said reserve reaches (30%) of the paid-up capital.

2. The Ordinary General Assembly, based on the proposal of 
the Board of Directors, should avoid (10%) of the net profits 
to form an agreement reserve to be allocated for a specific 
purpose or purposes.

3. The Ordinary General Assembly may decide to form other 
reserves, to the extent that it achieves the interest of the 
company or ensures the distribution of fixed profits as much 
as possible to the shareholders, and the aforementioned 
association may also deduct from the net profits sums to 
establish social institutions for the company’s workers or to 
help the existing ones from these institutions.

4. From the remainder, a percentage representing at least (1%) 
of the paid-up capital of the company shall be distributed to 
the shareholders.

The company may also distribute interim dividends to its 
shareholders on a semi-annual or quarterly basis, based on an 
authorization issued by the ordinary general assembly of the 
Board of Directors to distribute interim dividends that are renewed 
annually.

ANNOUNCEMENT OF DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
1. The company announces dividends on the website “Tadawul-

Disclosure” and the announcement issued in this regard includes 
the amount of the distribution and the method of payment after the 
distribution is approved by the ordinary general assembly of the 
company based on the recommendations of the Board of Directors.

2. The announcement of the dividend distribution includes the 
following:

a.  The total amount distributed.

b. The type of shares from which profits will be distributed.

c. The share of the profit for each share.

d. The percentage of the distribution from the nominal value of the 
share.

e. Eligibility of shareholders eligible for profits.

f. Date of the distribution of profits.

g. The method of distributing profits.

3. The announcement of the dividend distribution shall be made 
in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and in 
accordance with the articles of association of the company.

4. The company will not announce the distribution of profits if the 
company is financially insolvent or in the event of bankruptcy or if 
this will lead to a failure or bankruptcy of the company.

SHAREHOLDERS WHO ARE ENTITLED TO RECEIVE 
THE DIVIDEND

The profits distributed by the company are due to the shareholders 
registered with the Saudi Stock Exchange Company (Tadawul) at the 
end of the second trading day following the day the general assembly 
of the company is held.

SOURCES AND AMOUNT OF DIVIDENDS
1. The dividend is paid out of the company’s net profit and is 

distributed to shareholders on the basis of the number and type 
of shares.

2. The amount of dividends per ordinary shares is determined based 
on the recommendations of the Board of Directors and what is 
decided by the General Assembly in this regard.

3. The company’s annual net profits shall be distributed after 
deducting all general expenses, other costs and allocations, 
including legal zakat, allocations and other reserves, according 
to the mechanism for distributing the profits stipulated in the 
company’s articles of association.

4. The ordinary share of the dividend will equal the total of the 
dividends divided by the number of ordinary shares of the company.

PAY THE DIVIDEND DECLARED
1. Th e date of commencement of the annual dividend distribution 

shall be within a period not exceeding thirty (30) days from the 
date of the decision to distribute.

2. The company continues to pay the dividends announced for shares 
whose owners have not received the dividends due during the 
period announced in paragraph (1) above.

3. No interest is charged on distributions that are not claimed or that 
are not received by the shareholder concerned.

4. The company will be responsible for paying the dividends 
announced, and accordingly, the company will be legally 
responsible to the shareholders in case it fails to pay the dividends.

5. The Investor Relations Officer is responsible for the preparation 
and coordination necessary to pay the dividends.

6. The company informs the shareholders of the date, place and 
procedures for paying the distributions by publishing this 
information by the publishing methods used in the event of 
publishing the invitation for the General Assembly including the 
website of the financial market (Tadawul), or by sending letters 
registered to the shareholders according to their addresses 
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registered in the shareholders ’record, Or on the company’s 
website.

7. For the purpose of organizing and completing the dividend payment 
process, the company may seek the assistance of an external party 
called a “payment agent”, which is one of the banks with which 
the company deals, and in any case, the use of an external party 
does not exempt the company from its legal responsibility before 
the shareholders in relation to the payment of dividends.

8. The company is obligated to inform the shareholders in the case 
of using or changing a payment agent, through the publishing 
methods used in the case of publishing the invitation for the general 
assembly, or by sending letters registered to the shareholders 
according to their addresses in the shareholders register, or 
through its website or the market website. Finance (Tadawul).

9. The cash dividends to be distributed to the shareholders are 
deposited into their accounts related to their investment portfolios. 
The granted shares are deposited in the shareholders ’investment 
portfolios after announcing this on the website of the financial 
market (Tadawul).

10. Matters related to the payment of the announced dividends, which 
are not stipulated in the Companies Law, the company’s articles 
of association, or these bylaws, the company will process them 
according to the interest of the shareholders in them.

DISTRIBUTION OF INTERIM DIVIDENDS DURING 
THE FISCAL YEAR
The company’s board of directors has the right to distribute the profits 
on a quarterly basis if the company’s financial conditions allow it and 
according to the following controls and guidelines:

1. That the company has accumulated profits sufficient to cover the 
profits proposed to be distributed during the year after deducting 
the provisions and statutory and tax reserves.

2. That the profits accrued during the different periods of the fiscal 
year have been built on the same accounting principles used by 
the company and that the possibility of retaining these profits 
until the end of the company’s financial year is a highly reasonable 
possibility.

3. The company’s financial position and the liquidity available to it 
allow such distribution to be made.

4. The company’s board of directors must include in its annual report 
submitted to the company’s general assembly the percentage of 
profits distributed to shareholders during the different periods of 
the year in addition to the percentage of profits proposed to be 
distributed at the end of the year and the total of these profits.

5. Profits are recorded on the account of the profits achieved for the 
period or on the account of accumulated profits from previous years 
or both, and the company must take into account the sequence 
and regularity in how and the proportions of the distribution of 
profits according to the capabilities and liquidity available with the 
company, and the board of directors must disclose and announce 

the regular periodic profit rates that It was decided to distribute it to 
the shareholders on time so that the shareholders will be aware of 
it and be informed of it.

6. The company is obligated when making the decision to distribute 
profits by the Board of Directors to disclose and announce it once 
the decision is taken and to provide a copy of it to the General 
Administration of Companies at the Ministry of Commerce upon 
its issuance, provided that the decision of the Board of Directors is 
announced immediately on the company’s website and the website 
of the financial market (Tadawul).

DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTED DURING 2019
The Extraordinary General Assembly at its meeting No. 1 of 2019 
on 19/05/ 2019, based on the recommendations of the Board of 
Directors at its meeting No. 2 of 2019 on 18/03/2019, agreed to 
distribute dividends in the amount of SAR 15,000,000 for the fiscal 
year ending on December 31, 2018 at SAR one per share. It represents 
10% of the nominal value of the share, and the company announced 
on the “Tadawul” website on 19/03/2019 the recommendation of the 
Board of Directors to distribute dividends for the fiscal year ending 
on December 31, 2018, and was announced by the company about 
the date of the start of dividend distribution on 20/05/2019 In bank 
accounts linked to the investment portfolios of the shareholders of 
Due, the distribution was assigned to the Arab National Bank, and 
an amount of SAR 14,939,733 was distributed and the remaining 
SAR 60,267 were not distributed because the bank accounts of the 
shareholders did not match and the shareholders did not submit to 
receive cash.

The Ordinary General Assembly agreed in its meeting No. 3 of 
2019 on 21/11/2019, based on the recommendations of the Board of 
Directors at its meeting No. 5 of 2019 on 23/10/2019, to distribute 
interim dividends in the amount of SAR 11,250,000 for the first half of 
the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2019 at the rate of Halalah 75 
for each share represents 7.5% of the nominal value of the share, and 
the company announced on the “Tadawul” website on 24/10/2019, 
the recommendation of the Board of Directors to distribute interim 
dividends for the first half of the fiscal year ending on December 
31, 2019, and was announced by the company on a date Dividends 
distribution started on the 28/11/2019 The bank accounts associated 
with the investment portfolios of the eligible shareholders, the 
distribution was assigned to the Arab National Bank, and an amount 
of SAR 11,219,835 was distributed and the amount of SAR 30,165 was 
not distributed because the bank accounts of the shareholders did not 
match and the shareholders did not submit to receive cash.
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The number of company requests for 
the shareholder register Request Date Request Reasons

1 10/01/2019 Corporate process - as required to review FY18

2 06/04/2019 Corporate process - as a requirement to review first-quarter 
closing 2019 (rejection of application)

3 11/04/2019 Corporate process - as a requirement to review first quarter closing 
2019

4 19/05/2019 Profits file - for FY 2018 dividends distribution

5 11/06/2019 Corporate process - to inform senior management of the 
ownership file

6 26/08/2019 Corporate process - to inform senior management of the 
ownership file

7 11/11/2019 Corporate process - to inform senior management of the 
ownership file

8 21/11/2019 General Assembly - Assembly voting file

9 25/11/2019 Profits file - to distribute dividends for the first half of fiscal year 
2019

10 22/12/2019 Corporate process - to inform senior management of the 
ownership file

Table (25): The company’s requests to the shareholder register

The measures taken by the Board of Directors to inform its 

members of the shareholders’ proposals and observations regarding 

the company and its performance

No proposals or observations were received from the shareholders 

to the company’s management directly during the year 2019, while 

all the comments and suggestions were discussed in the general 

assembly meetings by the shareholders and members of the board 

of directors during the invitation of the shareholders to do so during 

the meetings.

THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY
Every shareholder has the right to attend the general assembly, 

or to authorize in writing any of the shareholders or others who have 

the right to attend the association, provided that he is not a member 

of the board of directors, according to the agency text form prepared 

for that, which must be certified by a chamber of commerce or a bank 

Or an employer.

The general or private assemblies of shareholders shall be 

convened at the invitation of the Board of Directors, in accordance 

with the provisions of the Companies Law. The Board of Directors shall 

invite the ordinary general assembly to convene if requested by the 

auditor, the audit committee, or a number of shareholders, representing 

at least five percent (5%) of the capital. The auditor may invite the 

assembly to convene if the board does not invite the association within 

thirty (30) days from the date of the auditor’s request.

The invitation to convene the general assembly shall be published 

on the website “Tadawul-Disclosure” or a daily newspaper distributed 

in the area in which the main headquarters of the company is at least 

twenty (21) days before the date set for the meeting. However, it may 

be sufficient to extend the invitation within the aforementioned time 

to all shareholders by registered letters. A copy of the invitation and 

the agenda shall be sent to the Capital Market Authority within the 

specified period of publication.

Shareholders who wish to attend the general or private assembly 

register their names in the company’s head office before the time set 

for the assembly.

Every subscriber has a vote for every share he represents in the 

transformational assembly, and every shareholder has a vote for every 

share in the general assemblies. The cumulative vote must be used in 

electing the board of directors.

Decisions in the transformative assembly are issued by the 

absolute majority of the shares represented in it, and the decisions 

of the ordinary general assembly are issued by the absolute majority 

of the shares represented in the meeting. Also, the decisions of the 

extraordinary general assembly are issued by a majority of two-thirds 

of the shares represented in the meeting, unless it is a decision related 

to increasing or reducing the capital or prolonging the company’s 

term or By dissolving it before the expiry of the period specified in its 

articles of association or its merger with another company, it is not 

correct unless it is issued by a majority of three quarters of the shares 

represented in the meeting.
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No. Member’s name 19/05/2019 23/06/2019 21/11/2019

1 Ahmed Hammoud Ibrahim Altheyab

2 Tarek AbdulRahman Saleh AlSedhan

3 George Abdulkarim George Moussa

4 Taha Mohammed Abdul Wahid Azhari

5 AbdulRahman Mohammed 
Abdulrahman Al-Zweidi

6 Ahmed Hassan Ahmed Ali

AbsentAttended                                                   

Table (26) the attendance record of the members of the Board of Directors to the General Assembly Meeting:

Disclosure policies and procedures
The company is committed to adopting a disclosure policy that 

ensures that all necessary information about the company is shown, 

without any delay, of interest to the parties concerned and the public, 

and is committed to making it accessible to those parties in a timely 

and fair manner, so that appropriate decisions, based on correct and 

accurate information, can be taken.

Disclosure controls
1. Timing: The Company must disclose to the public any information 

or material development stipulated in Article (17) below, at least 

half an hour before the start of the trading period.

2. Accuracy: The Company is committed to making any disclosure 

thereof to shareholders and the commission clear, correct and not 

misleading.

3. Methods of disclosure: Information is disclosed to shareholders 

through the website of the stock market “Tadawul”.

4. Confidentiality of information affecting the stock: Information that 

affects the share price of the company must be disclosed, and any 

information must be dealt with confidentially, until it is released to 

shareholders.

Every shareholder has the right to discuss the topics on the 

assembly’s agenda and direct questions about them to members 

of the board of directors and auditor. The Board of Directors or the 

auditor answers the shareholders ’questions to the extent that the 

company’s interest is not compromised. If the shareholder deems that 

the response to his question is not convincing, he shall appeal to the 

association, and its decision in this regard shall be effective.

The general assembly meetings of shareholders shall be chaired 

by the chairman of the board of directors or his deputy in his absence, 

or whoever is delegated by the board of directors from among its 

members for that in the absence of the chairman and vice president.

A meeting minutes shall be drawn up with a record containing the 

number of the shareholders present or representatives, the number of 

shares they possess on the behalf of the agency or agency, the number 

of votes assigned to them, the decisions taken, the number of votes 

approved or violated, and a complete summary of the discussions 

that took place in the meeting. The minutes are recorded regularly 

after each meeting in a special record signed by the president of the 

association, its secretary and the polling station.

5. Interacting with rumors: Interacting with rumors or expectations 

is strictly prohibited, as is any attempt to influence the opinions or 

conclusions of analysts.

Disclosure of material developments
1. The company must inform the Authority and the public without 

delay of any fundamental developments that fall within the scope 

of its activity and that its knowledge is not available to the general 

public and affects its assets and liabilities, its financial position or 

the general course of its business or group and can:

• To lead to a change in the price of the securities listed by the 
company; or

• To significantly affect the company’s ability to fulfill its obligations 
related to debt instruments.

In order to determine the development that falls within the scope 

of this article (17), the company must assess whether any investor 

is likely to consider that development when making his investment 

decision in the securities issued by the company.

2. Among the fundamental developments that the company must 

disclose, including but not limited to the following:

01. Any transaction to buy an asset or sell it at a price equal to or 

greater than (10%) of the net assets of the company according 
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to the latest audited preliminary financial statements or annual 

audited financial statements, whichever is later.

02. Any debt outside the normal activities of the company with 

an amount equal to or greater than (10%) of its net assets 

according to the latest audited preliminary financial statements 

or annual audited financial statements, whichever is later.

03. Any losses equal to or greater than (10%) of the net assets 

of the company according to the last examined preliminary 

financial statements or annual audited financial statements, 

whichever is later.

04. Any significant change in the company’s production 

environment or activity, including, but not limited to, abundant 

resources and access to them.

05. The CEO of the company has changed or made any amendment 

to the composition of the members of the Board of Directors.

06. Any dispute, including any lawsuit, arbitration or mediation, 

if the amount of the dispute equals or exceeds (5%) of the 

net assets of the company, according to the last examined 

preliminary financial statements or annual audited financial 

statements, whichever is later.

07. Any court ruling issued against the Board of Directors or one 

of its members, if the subject matter of the judgment is related 

to the work of the Board of Directors or one of its members in 

the company.

08. The increase or decrease in the net assets of the company in 

an amount equal to or more than (10%) according to the last 

examined preliminary financial statements or annual audited 

financial statements, whichever is later.

09. The increase or decrease in the total profits of the company, 

equal to or more than (10%) according to the latest annual 

audited financial statements.

10. Entering into his revenue contract equal to or more than (5%) 

of the total company revenue according to the latest annual 

audited financial statements, or an unexpected termination of 

that contract.

11. Any transaction between the company and a related party 

or any arrangement whereby both the company and a party 

involved in any project or asset or provide financing for it if this 

transaction or arrangement is equal to or exceeds (1%) of the 

total revenues of the company according to the last lists Annual 

financial review.

12. Any interruption in any of the main activities of the company 

or its subsidiary companies equal to or greater than (5%) of its 

total revenues according to the latest annual audited financial 

statements.

Financial information disclosure

1. The board of directors must approve the company’s preliminary and 

annual financial statements and be signed by the chairman, CEO 

and financial manager, before they are published and distributed to 

shareholders and others.

2. The preliminary and annual financial statements and the report of 

the board of directors referred to in Article (19) must be submitted 

to the commission as soon as they are approved by the board of 

directors.

3. The company announces - through the electronic applications 

determined by the authority - its initial and annual financial 

statements as soon as they are approved by the board of directors. 

These lists may not be published to shareholders or others before 

announcing them on the website of the financial market (Tadawul).

4. The company must provide the commission and announce to 

the shareholders its preliminary financial statements that must 

be prepared and examined in accordance with the accounting 

standards issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public 

Accountants, immediately after its approval and within a period not 

exceeding (30) days from the end of the financial period covered 

by these lists.

5. The company must provide the commission and announce to the 

shareholders its annual financial statements that must be prepared 

and audited in accordance with the accounting standards issued 

by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants, 

immediately after their approval and within a period not exceeding 

within three months of the end of the annual financial period 

covered by these lists. The company must provide the Authority and 

announce to the shareholders these annual financial statements 

within a period of no less than 15 days before the date of the Annual 

General Assembly of the company.
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Board of Directors Report
The company must provide the commission and announce to 

shareholders within a period not exceeding (75) calendar days from 

the end of the annual financial period a report issued by the board of 

directors that includes a presentation of its operations during the last 

financial year, and all factors affecting its business, which the investor 

needs to be able to evaluate the source assets His opponents and 

financial position. The report of the Board of Directors must include 

the following:

1. A description of the main types of activity of the company and 

its subsidiaries, and in the case of describing two or more types 

of activity, a statement must be attached to each activity and 

its impact on the volume of the company’s business and its 

contribution to the results.

2. A description of the company’s important plans and decisions 

(including the structural changes of the company, the expansion 

of its business, the suspension of its operations, the future 

expectations of the company’s business, and any risks it faces).

3. Information related to any risks faced by the company (whether 

it is operational risks, financing risks, or market risks) and the 

policy of managing and controlling these risks.

4. Summary in the form of a table or graph of the company’s assets, 

liabilities and results of its business in the last five fiscal years or 

since inception, whichever is shorter.

5. Geographical analysis of the total revenues of the company and 

its subsidiaries.

6. Clarification of any material differences in the operating results 

from the results of the previous year or any expectations 

announced by the company.

7. Clarification of any difference from the accounting standards 

issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public 

Accountants.

8. The name of each subsidiary, its capital, the percentage of 

ownership of the company in it and its main activity, the country 

of the main center of its operations, and the country of its 

establishment.

9. Details of shares and debt instruments issued for each company 

affiliated with the company.

10. A description of the company’s policy in distributing profits.

11. A description of any interest in the category of shares entitled to 

vote belonging to persons (except for members of the company’s 

board of directors and senior executives and their relatives) who 

informed the company of those rights, and any change in those 

rights during the last fiscal year.

12. A description of any contractual interest and securities and 

underwriting rights belonging to the company’s board members, 

senior executives and their relatives in the shares or debt 

instruments of the company or any of its group, and any change 

in that interest or those rights during the last fiscal year.

13. Information related to any loans to the company (whether 

payable upon request or otherwise), and a statement of the total 

debt of the company and its group and any amounts that the 

company paid for loans during the year. In the absence of loans 

to the company, the company must provide a declaration.

14. A description of the categories and numbers of any convertible 

debt instruments and any contractual securities or subscription 

right memoranda or similar rights issued or granted by the 

company during the fiscal year with clarification of any 

compensation obtained by the company in exchange for that.

15. A description of any transferable or underwriting rights under 

convertible debt instruments, contractual securities, or right-of-

interest notes, or similar rights issued or granted by the company.

16. A description of any redemption, purchase, or cancellation by 

the company of any recoverable debt instruments, and the value 

of the remaining securities, with a distinction between the listed 

securities purchased by the company and those purchased by 

the group.

17. The number of board meetings that took place during the last 

financial year, and the attendance record of each meeting 

clarifying the names of those present.

18. A description of any transaction between the company and a 

related party.

19. Information related to any business or contracts to which the 

company is a party, and in it or in which there was an interest 

of one of the members of the company’s board of directors, the 

CEO, the chief financial officer, or any person related to any of 

them. Acknowledgment.

20. A statement of any arrangements or agreement whereby 

a member of the company’s board of directors or a senior 

executive waives any salary or compensation.

21. A statement of any arrangement or agreement whereby a 

shareholder of the company waives any rights in the profits.

22. A statement of the value of the statutory payments due to pay 

any Zakat, taxes, fees, or any other entitlements, with a brief 
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description of them and an explanation of their reasons.

23. A statement of the value of any investments or reserves 

established for the benefit of the company’s employees.

24. Acknowledgment of the following:

A. a. The account records are correctly prepared.

B. B. The internal control system was developed on sound 

bases and effectively implemented.

C. C. There is no doubt about the company’s ability to continue 

its activity.

If any of the above cannot be issued, the report must contain a 

statement stating the reason for this.

25. Information to be disclosed under the Corporate Governance 

Regulations issued by the Authority, which includes:

A. A statement of the provisions of the Corporate Governance 

Regulations and provisions that have not been applied, and 

the reasons for that.

B. The names of the members of the Board of Directors, the 

members of the committees, the executive management, 

their current and previous positions, their qualifications and 

experience.

C. The names of the joint-stock companies whose board member 

is a member of their boards of directors or their directors.

D. Composing the Board of Directors and classifying its members 

as follows: a non-executive board member, an executive board 

member or an independent board member.

E. The measures taken by the Board of Directors to inform its 

members - especially non-executives - of the shareholders 

’proposals and their observations regarding the company and 

its performance.

F. A brief description of the functions of the main board 

committees and their tasks, such as the audit committee, 

nominations and remuneration committee, and the executive 

committee, stating the names of these committees, their 

chairmen, members, and the number of their meetings.

G. Details of the rewards and compensation paid to:

I. Board Members.

II. Five of the senior executives who received the highest 

rewards and compensation from the company, in addition to 

them the CEO and Chief Financial Officer if they are not on 

the list. Rewards and compensation include salaries, wages, 

allowances, profits and the like, periodic or annual bonuses 

related to performance, short or long-term incentive plans 

and any other in-kind benefits.

A. Any penalty, penalty or precautionary restriction imposed on 

the company by the Authority or from any other supervisory, 

regulatory or judicial authority.

B. Results of the annual review of the effectiveness of the 

company’s internal control procedures.

26. If the accountant’s report includes reservations to the company’s 

annual financial statements, the report of the board of directors 

must clarify those reservations, their reasons, and any 

information related to them.

27. In the event that the Board of Directors recommends that the 

chartered accountant be replaced before the period for which 

he was appointed expires, the report must contain that, together 

with the reasons for recommending the replacement.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
1. The company must attach to its annual financial statements a 

report issued by the audit committee that includes details of 

its performance of its functions and functions stipulated in the 

corporate system and its executive regulations, provided that it 

includes its recommendations and opinion on the adequacy of the 

internal and financial control systems and risk management in the 

company.

2. 2- The Board of Directors must deposit sufficient copies of the 

report of the audit committee in the company’s head office and 

publish it on the company’s website and the market’s website 

when publishing the invitation to hold the general assembly to 

enable those who wish to shareholders to obtain a copy of it. The 

summary of the report is read out during the General Assembly.

SECURITIES REPORTING
The company must inform the Authority and the public without 

delay of the following information:

1. Any proposed change in its capital.

2. Any decision to declare profits or recommend declaring them, 

paying shares thereof, or making other distributions to holders of 

listed securities issued by them.

3. Any decision not to declare profits or recommend not to declare 

profits or not to pay shares from them, it is expected that they will 

be announced or recommended to be announced or paid in the 

usual course of events.

4. Any decision to summon, repurchase, withdraw, redeem, or offer 
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to buy securities issued by the company, the total amount, the 

number of that, and its value.

5. Any decision not to pay is related to debt instruments or convertible 

debt instruments.

6. Any change in the rights associated with any class of listed shares 

or convertible debt instruments.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
The company must inform the Authority and the public without 

delay of the following:

1. Any change in the company’s articles of association or 

headquarters.

2. Any change of chartered accountant.

3. Submitting a liquidation petition, issuing a liquidation order, 

appointing a liquidator to the company or any of its affiliates 

according to the companies ’system, or starting any procedures 

under bankruptcy regulations.

4. The issuance of a decision by the company or any of its subsidiaries 

to dissolve or liquidate the company, or the occurrence of an event 

or the end of a period of time that requires the company to be 

placed under liquidation or dissolution.

5. Taking a judgment, decision, announcement, or order from a court 

or judicial authority with jurisdiction, whether in the elementary 

or appellate stages, that could negatively affect the company’s 

exploitation of any part of its assets whose total value exceeds 

(5%) of the company’s net assets.

6. Call for a general assembly and its agenda.

LANGUAGE OF ANNOUNCEMENTS, NOTICES AND 
REPORTS
1. All advertisements, notices and reports issued by the company 

must be in the Arabic language and the company may translate 

them into English.

2. The Arabic language is the language used to clarify and interpret 

all advertisements, notices and reports. In the event of any 

inconsistency between the Arabic version and the English version, 

the Arabic version will be taken.

MAINTAIN CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION
1. The information is considered confidential information if it is one 

that affects the business of the company and it is not necessary to 

disclose it according to the relevant laws and regulations.

2. The company should take the necessary steps to protect its trade 

secrets and confidential information.

3. Board members, senior executives, and all company employees, 

each within its jurisdiction, must maintain the confidentiality of the 

information they viewed through their official relationship with the 

company.

4. The information is confidential information or commercial secrets, 

including but not limited to the following:

a. The Company’s investment opportunities and study prepared 

for these opportunities.

b. Contracts and agreements subject to negotiation, with the 

need to adhere to the need to disclose them later, according 

to the requirements of the registration and listing rules and the 

authority.

c. Productive secrets related to the company’s products or 

services.

d. Detailed information related to the cost of the company’s 

products or services.

AUTHORIZED PERSONS
Only the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO are 

authorized to make statements and statements about the company’s 

business and plans, and some employees are entitled to make 

statements with a specific authorization from the authorized persons, 

according to specific controls.

CONTROLS TO BE OBSERVED WHEN 
COMMUNICATING WITH THE PUBLIC
1. No statement shall be made of any means of the media, or of 

communication, except by those authorized to do so, or authorized 

by those authorized under an explicit authorization.

2. Precision and caution must be exercised when making any 

statement or announcement of any information about the 

company, to the public, and the media, and that these statements 

are true to the truth, and reflect the existing reality of the company.

3. Unauthorized employees should refrain from providing any 

information or data about the company to the media or the public 

on behalf of the company when asked.

4. The company may specify employees to be authorized by those 

authorized to respond to inquiries received from outside the 

company in accordance with limited answers and prepared in 

advance on certain occasions.
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4 The interests of the members of the Board of Directors of the company

No. Description Type of relationship Type of contract Contract 
amount Contract terms Contract 

duration

1

Transactions deals 
between the company 
and Hana Food 
Industries Co.

Board chairman and 
company shareholder/ 
Ahmed Hammoud 
Ibrahim Altheyab, who is 
a board member,
managing director and 
one of company owners

Sales of commodities to Hana 
Food Industries Co. SAR 100 Million

Without 
discrimination 
or preferential 
terms

Year

2

Transactions deals 
between the company 
and Hammoud Altheyab 
Sons Co.

Board chairman and 
company shareholder/ 
Ahmed Hammoud 
Ibrahim Altheyab, who is 
a board member

Transport services from 
Hammoud Altheyab Sons Co.

SAR 50 
Thousand 

Without 
discrimination 
or preferential 
terms

Year

3
Transactions deals 
between the company 
and Riyadh Bank

Deputy chairman/ 
Tareq Abdul Rahman 
Saleh Alsadan, Finance 
Manager and CEO

Bank account and service 
contract, agreements and 
bank facilities

-

Without 
discrimination 
or preferential 
terms

Year

Table (27): A list of the interests of some members of the Board of Directors of the company:

INTERNAL INFORMATION
1. Internal information is information that is not available to the public 

and related to the company’s activities and shares, which will affect 

the market value of the company’s shares substantially in the event 

of its disclosure, which includes the following:

a. Information directly related to the company or group and its 

shares.

b. Information of a special nature.

c. Any of the information that is classified as non-public.

d. Information, if disclosed, will affect the market value of the 

company’s shares.

2. Any person who is able to view the internal information, whether by 

a court ruling or according to the nature of his position or according 

to the internal laws of the company, can be considered an internal 

person.

3. A person is considered an internal person if he is:

a. Board members or senior executives and persons involved in 
the internal control of the company and the group.

b. The persons who were appointed by the company or group, 
and whose performance of their duties includes looking at the 
internal information of the company.

c. Appointed by government or supervisory bodies.

d. All internal persons are prohibited from disclosing or 
discussing internal information.

e. The company has the right not to disclose any information that 
might pose a risk to its competitive position, including - for 

example - disclosing deals that are in its negotiating stages.
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5 BOARD OF DIRECTORS RETURNS

6. COMPANY ISSUES

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR 2019

The Board confirms and acknowledges that:

Zahrat Al Waha Trading Company board of directors declares 

the following:
 - The account records are correctly prepared.
 - The internal control system was prepared on sound bases 

and implemented effectively.
 - There is no doubt about the company’s ability to continue 

its activity.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 

TO THE ESTEEMED GENERAL ASSEMBLY THE 
FOLLOWING:

 - Approval of the report of the Board of Directors for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019.

 - Approval of the company’s auditor’s report for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019.

1. The Board of Directors confirms that there are no cases that were raised during the fiscal year 2019 from or against the company, whose value 
exceeds 5% of the company’s net assets.

2. The Board of Directors confirms that there are no cases filed during the fiscal year 2019 against a member of the Board of Directors or one of the 
partners in the subsidiary companies or against any of the company’s senior executives.

No. Penalty Reason of penalty Penalty Authority Ways to treat it and avoid it on future Financial Effects

1 None None None None None

Table (28): Statement of the penalties imposed on the company during the year 2019:

Table (29): Statement of related party transactions and balances for the fiscal year 2019:

No. Related 
party Relationship Type of Relationship

Amount of Transactions/Contract
Contract 
durationSales Purchases Proceeds Payments

Other expenses/

income

1
Hana Food 
Industries 
Co.

Transactions 
deals between 
the company 
and Hana Food 
Industries Co.

Board chairman and 
company shareholder/ 
Ahmed
Ahmed Hammoud 
Ibrahim Altheyab, who 
is a board member,
managing director 
and one of company 
owners

95,730,068 1,773,334 93,200,00 - - Year

2 Riyadh 
Bank

Transactions 
deals between 
the company and 
Riyadh Bank

Deputy chairman/ 
Tareq Abdul Rahman 
Saleh Alsadan, Finance 
Manager and CEO

- - - - - Year

 - Approving the financial statements of the company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019.

 - Discharging the members of the Board of Directors for the 
financial year ending on 31 December 2019.

 - Approval of the audit committee’s recommendation 
regarding the selection of the external auditor from among 
the candidates to review the annual financial statements 
for the fiscal year 2020 and the quarterly quarter ended 
June 30, 2020

 - September 30, 2020
 - March 31, 2021
 - And fixing his fees for the fiscal year 2020 and the 

quarters.
 - Approval of works and contracts concluded with related 

parties, and recommending approval and licensing of 
works and contracts that will take place during the year 

2020.
 - Recommendation the general assembly to distribute 

dividends for the second half of the fiscal year ending on 
31-12-2019.
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR 2018

Table (30): Statement of related party transactions and balances for the fiscal year 2018:

No. Related party Relationship Type of 
Relationship

Amount of Transactions/Contract
Contract 
durationSales Purchases Proceeds Payments

Other 
expenses/

1 Hana Food 
Industries Co.

Transactions 
deals between 
the company 
and Hana Food 
Industries Co.

Board chairman 
and company 
shareholder/ 
Ahmed
Ahmed 
Hammoud 
Ibrahim Altheyab, 
who is a board 
member,
managing 
director and 
one of company 
owners

98,669,907 6,451,705 95,570,584 - - Year

2
Hammoud 
Altheyab Sons 
Co.

Transactions 
deals between 
the company 
and Hammoud 
Altheyab Sons 
Co.

Board chairman 
and company 
shareholder/ 
Ahmed
Hammoud 
Ibrahim Altheyab, 
who is a board 
member

- 285,132 - - - Year

3 Riyadh Bank

Transactions 
deals between 
the company and 
Riyadh Bank

Deputy 
chairman/ Tareq 
Abdul Rahman 
Saleh Alsadan, 
Finance Manager 
and CEO

- - - - - Year

4 Senior executives Labor contracts Senior executives - - - - 2,131,930 Year
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

It is all that the company does in order to maximize its 

added value, which belongs to society as a whole, and social 

responsibility is the responsibility of every person in the 

company and not the responsibility of one administration 

or one director, and the social responsibility of the company 

comes from its commitment to various laws, especially those 

related to workers ’rights, environmental protection and 

community development. .

The social responsibility of the company is represented in the 

following points:

 • Employment, which is one of the most important 

sources of economic development through the company 

employing individuals in its various sectors.

 • Providing resources and procurement, which 

contributes to stimulating economic development by 

providing its purchases from local companies

 • Financial investment, where the company invests 

money on a short or long-term basis, which brings 

about many benefits to local communities
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STATEMENT OF ZAKAT AND LEGAL PAYMENTS REPAID 

Below are the regular payments made during the fiscal year 

ending December 31, 2019.

Table (31) Zakat and regular payments:

Description

2019

Brief Description Reasons
Paid

Due until the end of

annual fiscal period

and not repaid

Zakat and income tax 3,507,119 3,488,308 Zakat on paid company for 
the year 2018

The cause of the receivable 
has not been paid in terms of 
payment after submitting the 
zakat return for the year 2019

General Authorization for 
Social Insurance 435,555 31,277 Social insurance for the year 

2019 for company employees

The amount due and not paid 
is the December insurance. It 
is paid in the following month

Labor Office fees 778,515.00 - Labor office fees for 
residency renewal -

Visas expenses 32000 - 16 recruitment visas fees -

Valued added tax 3,314,655
Debt
426,494.8 Value Added Tax (VAT) 

payable during the year

A balance due to the General 
Authority of Zakat and 
Income Tax
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THE FOCUSES OF OUR OPERATIONAL PROCESS IN 2020

Our operation phases in 2020 are the following:

Increasing the customer 
base locally and 
internationally

Adding new products to our 
products, whether in bottle 
miniatures or plastic caps

Adding a new sector to our 
operational sector, which is 
the printing sector, which is 
expected to be operational 
during the third quarter of 

2020

01 02 03
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ZAHRA AL WAHA FOR 
TRADING COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK 

COMPANY)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED
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Zahra Al Waha For Trading Company
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

The accompanying notes (1) through (28) form an integral part of these financial statements.
2

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019
(Saudi Riyals)

Note
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 238,013,717 244,211,671
Investment properties 7 2,649,000 --
Intangible assets 8 929,915 22,082
Non- current assets 241,592,632 244,233,753

Inventories 9 43,397,705 32,764,457
Trade receivables 10 159,253,880 177,979,761
Prepayments and other receivables 11 20,173,480 6,174,946
Cash and cash equivalents 25,376,554 16,620,422
Current assets 248,201,619 233,539,586
Total assets 489,794,251 477,773,339

Equity

Share capital 12 150,000,000 150,000,000
Statutory reserve 13,815,352 8,151,769
Retained earnings 59,339,206 34,616,961
Other reserves 13 28,810 130,048
Total equity 223,183,368 192,898,778

Liabilities

Long-term Loans 15.b 82,382,743 112,796,622
Employees benefits 16.1 1,332,695 863,410
Non - current liabilities 83,715,438 113,660,032

Short-term loans 15.a 113,175,031 110,652,414
Long term loans – current portion 15.b 46,404,878 34,962,550
Trade Payables 13,634,608 17,668,092
Accrued expenses and other payables 14 4,887,564 3,209,729
Provision for Zakat 17 4,660,664 4,679,476
Dividend payables 21 132,700 42,268
Current liabilities 182,895,445 171,214,529
Total liabilities 266,610,883 284,874,561
Total equity and liabilities 489,794,251 477,773,339

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 2 Rajab 1441H (corresponding
to 26 February 2020) and signed on their behalf by:

Chairman
Ahmed Hamoud

AlTheyab

Chief Executive
Officer

George Abdul
Karim Moussa

Chief Financial
Officer

Mahmoud
Mohammad

Zaky



3

79

Zahra Al Waha For Trading Company
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

The accompanying notes (1) through (28) form an integral part of these financial statements.
3

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Saudi Riyals)

For the year ended 31 December
Note 2019 2018

Sales 519,757,535 488,512,214
Cost of sales 18 (431,297,189) (423,476,321)
Gross profit 88,460,346 65,035,893

Other income 852,507 1,292,723
Selling and distribution expenses 19 (8,774,604) (7,306,355)
General and administrative expenses 20 (7,139,962) (6,042,390)
Operating profit 73,398,287 52,979,871

Finance costs (13,274,151) (13,864,802)
Profit before Zakat 60,124,136 39,115,069

Zakat 17.3 (3,488,308) (4,452,324)

Profit for the year 56,635,828 34,662,745

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligation 16.1 (101,238) 168,973
Total other comprehensive income (101,238) 168,973

Total comprehensive income 56,534,590 34,831,718

Basic and diluted earning per share (SR) 23 3.78 2.31

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 2 Rajab 1441H
(corresponding to 26 February 2020) and signed on their behalf by:

Chairman
Ahmed Hamoud

AlTheyab

Chief Executive
Officer

George Abdul
Karim Moussa

Chief Financial
Officer

Mahmoud
Mohammad

Zaky
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Zahra
A

lW
aha

For
Trading

C
om

pany
(A

SaudiJointStock C
om

pany)

The accom
panying

notes(1)through
(28)form

an
integralpartofthese

financial statem
ents.

4

Statem
entofC

hangesin
Equity

Forthe
year ended

31
D

ecem
ber2019

(SaudiRiyals)

Notes
Share

capital
Statutory

reserve
R

etained
earnings

O
ther reserves

Total

Balanceasat1
January

2018
150,000,000

4,685,495
34,495,637

(38,925)
189,142,207

The
im

pactofthe
new

IFRS
standards

--
--

(16,075,147)
--

(16,075,147)
A

djusted
balanceasat1 January

2018
150,000,000

4,685,495
18,420,490

(38,925)
173,067,060

Profit
--

--
34,662,745

--
34,662,745

O
thercom

prehensive
incom

e
--

--
--

168,973
168,973

Totalcom
prehensive

incom
e

--
--

34,662,745
168,973

34,831,718

D
ividends D

istributed
21

--
--

(15,000,000)
--

(15,000,000)
Transferred

to
statutory

reserve
--

3,466,274
(3,466,274)

--
--

Totaltransactionsw
ith

shareholdersofthe com
pany

--
3,466,274

(18,466,274)
--

(15,000,000)
Balanceasat31

D
ecem

ber
2018

150,000,000
8,151,769

34,616,961
130,048

192,898,778

Profit
--

--
56,635,828

--
56,635,828

O
thercom

prehensive
incom

e
--

--
--

(101,238)
(101,238)

Totalcom
prehensive

incom
e

--
--

56,635,828
(101,238)

56,534,590

D
ividends D

istributed
21

--
--

(26,250,000)
--

(26,250,000)
Transferred

to
statutory

reserve
--

5,663,583
(5,663,583)

--
--

Totaltransactionsw
ith

shareholdersofthe com
pany

--
5,663,583

(31,913,583)
--

(26,250,000)
Balanceasat31

D
ecem

ber
2019

150,000,000
13,815,352

59,339,206
28,810

223,183,368

These
financialstatem

entshave
been

approved
by

the
Board

ofD
irectorson

2
Rajab

1441H
(corresponding

to
26

February
2020)and

signed
on

theirbehalf
by:

Chairm
an

A
hm

ed
H

am
oud

A
lTheyab

ChiefExecutive
O

fficer
G

eorge
A

bdulK
arim

M
oussa

ChiefFinancialO
fficer

M
ahm

oud
M

oham
m

ad
Zaky
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Zahra Al Waha For Trading Company
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

The accompanying notes (1) through (28) form an integral part of these financial statements.
5

Statement of Cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Saudi Riyals)

For the year ended 31 December
Note 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 56,635,828 34,662,745
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization (6,8) 26,993,123 22,582,830
Impairment of inventories 9 -- (981,005)
Employees benefits 16.1 368,047 308,455
Gain from non-cash transactions (327,823) --
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (78,143) (28,089)
Provision for Zakat 17.3 3,488,308 4,452,324
Finance costs 15.c 13,274,151 13,864,802

100,353,491 74,862,062
Changes in:
Inventories (10,633,248) (2,224,405)
Trade receivables 16,404,704 (65,790,795)
Prepayments and other receivables (13,998,534) (3,788,131)
Trade Payables (4,033,484) 9,118,262
Accrued expenses and other payables 1,677,835 2,330,948
Cash generated from operating activities 89,770,764 14,507,941
Zakat paid 17.3 (3,507,120) (1,562,940)
Finance costs paid 15.c (6,811,730) (8,163,256)
Net cash generated from operating activities 79,451,914 4,781,745

Cash flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

78,143 38,572

Additions to property, plant and equipment 6 (21,663,002) (43,037,926)
Addition of intangible assets (40,000) --
Net cash used in investment activities (21,624,859) (42,999,354)

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from loans 15.c 405,588,667 361,947,815
Repayment of loans 15.c (428,500,022) (311,279,753)
Dividends 21 (26,159,568) (14,957,732)
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing
activities

(49,070,923) 35,710,330

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

8,756,132 (2,507,279)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 16,620,422 19,127,701
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 25,376,554 16,620,422
The following significant non-cash transactions are
excluded:
Eliminate customer balance in exchange for
acquisition of assets

2,321,177 --
Actuarial valuation losses / (gains) 16.1 101.238 (168,973)
Transferred from property, plant and equipment to
investment properties

2,649,000 --
Transferred from projects in progress to intangible
assets 966,708 --
Impairment losses on trade receivables arising from
application of IFRS -- 16,075,147

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 2 Rajab 1441H
(corresponding to 26 February 2020) and signed on their behalf by:

Chairman
Ahmed Hamoud

AlTheyab

Chief Executive
Officer

George Abdul
Karim Moussa

Chief Financial
Officer

Mahmoud
Mohammad

Zaky
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Zahra Al Waha For Trading Company
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

6

1. ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Zahra Al Waha Trading Company ("the Company") is a Saudi Joint Stock Company established
under the Regulations for Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia on 10 Sha’aban 1424H
(corresponding to 6 October 2003) as a sole proprietorship. The Company was converted from a
sole proprietorship to a Limited Liability Company with a capital of 50 million Saudi Riyals on 27
Safar 1437H (corresponding to 9 December 2015). In addition, it was converted from a Limited
Liability Company to a Saudi Closed Joint Stock Company with a capital of SR 80 million on 3
Rabi’ II 1438H (corresponding to 1 January 2017). It was converted from a Saudi Closed Joint
Stock Company to a Saudi Public Joint Stock Company with a capital of SR 150 million on 26
Dhul-Hijjah 1438H corresponding to 17 September 2017. The Company operates under
Commercial Registration No. 1010190390 issued in Riyadh on 10 Sha’aban 1424H (corresponding
to 6 October 2003) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The Saudi Capital Market Authority approved the listing of the Company in the Saudi Stock
Exchange (Tadawul) on 26 Dhul-Hijjah 1438H (corresponding to 17 September 2017). Formal
procedures to amend the Company's by-laws to convert it from a Saudi Closed Joint Stock
Company into a Saudi Public Joint Stock Company were completed on 12 Rabi I 1439H
(corresponding to 30 November 2017).

The Company carries out its activities through its branch in Al-Kharj under Commercial
Registration No. 1011014061 issued in Riyadh on 22 Jumada II 1431H (corresponding to 4 June
2010).

The Company is engaged in the construction and maintenance of factories, and production of
plastic bottles and caps for bottles under industrial license No. 1064 dated 9 Rabi’ II 1437H
(corresponding to 19 January 2016).

The Company’s registered head office is located in the following address:

Zahra Al Waha For Trading Company
7449 Al Ihsa Street, Al Rabwa.
P.O. Box 2980, Riyadh 12814
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and
pronouncements that are issued by the Saudi Organization of Certified Public Accountants
(SOCPA).

Certain comparative figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 have been reclassified
to conform to the current year presentation of the financial statements.

These financial statements have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 2 Rajab
1441H (corresponding to 26 February 2020).

3. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These financial statements are prepared in Saudi Riyals, which is the functional and presentation
currency of the Company.
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Zahra Al Waha For Trading Company
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

7

4. USE OF ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, costs, assets and liabilities,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the financial period date. However, uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities affected in the future.

These estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and factors including
expectations of future events that are appropriate in the circumstances and are used to determine
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not independent from other sources. The
estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Accounting estimates recognized in the period in which the estimates are reviewed in the reviewing
period and future periods are reviewed if the changed estimates affect both current and future
periods.

The significant judgments made by management in applying the Company’s accounting policies
are consistent with those disclosed in the previous year's financial statements.

Information about estimates, assumptions and judgements made in applying accounting policies
that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is
included in the following:

4.1 Impairment of trade receivables
The impairment of trade receivables is assessed and evaluated using assumptions about the risk of
default and the rates of loss incurred. The company uses the judgments when making these
assumptions and selects the necessary inputs to calculate the impairment based on the Company's
previous experience and current and future market conditions at the end of each reporting period
in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 (Note 10).

4.2 Useful lives and residual values of the property, plant and equipment
The Company’s management determines the estimated useful life of its property, plant and
equipment for calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering expected
usage of the assets and physical wear and tear. The management periodically reviews the estimated
useful lives, residual values and the depreciation method to ensure that the method and periods of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefit of the assets. No change
was made to the useful lives and residual value during the year (note 6).

4.3 Measurement of defined benefit obligations
The cost of employees’ defined benefit obligations is determined in accordance with actuarial
valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions which may differ from
actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future
salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying
assumptions and its long-term nature, a defined benefit liability is highly sensitive to changes in
these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed on the date of the financial statements preparation
(Note 16).

4.4 Impairment of inventories
Inventories are measured at net realizable value, which is the estimated selling price in the normal
course of business, less estimated cost of completion and estimated selling expenses. The amount
of write-off and any reduction in inventory to the net realizable value and all inventory losses must
be recognized as an expense in the same period in which the write-off or expense occurred (Note
9).
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies used when preparing these financial statements are in line with what is
stated in the notes to the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.
Since the beginning of 2018, the Company has early adopted IFRS 16, as listed below.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these
financial statements.

5.1 New standards and amendments to standards and interpretations

5.1.1 IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

IFRS 16 interduce a single accounting model for lessees to recognize leases in the financial
statements. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. There are optional
exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value items. Lessor accounting remains similar
to the current standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.
IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption
is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ on or before
the date of initial application of IFRS 16. The Company's management preferred the early adoption
of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2018, and early adoption did not result in any significant adjustments for
the previous period or periods.

5.1.2 Transition

As a lessee, the Company can apply the standard using one of the following:
• A retrospective approach.
• A retrospective approach modified with an optional practical expedient.
The lessee applies the election consistently to all of its leases.
Impact of applying IFRS 16
The Company has identified the impact of adoption of IFRS 16 on its reported assets and liabilities.
Given that the lease in which the Company associated with regarding leasing of the Company’s
head office, and as it is an impaired lease for a period not exceeding one year, therefore, the
Company as a lessee is not required to make any adjustments for way adopted in recording the
mentioned lease expense under the new standard.
No significant impact from adoption this standard on presentation and disclosure method followed
by the Company currently in this regard.

5.1.3 Other amendments

The following new or amended standards are currently not expected to have a significant impact
on the Company’s financial statements:
• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
• Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9).
• Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28).
• Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement on employees benefits (Amendments to IAS 19).
• Annual adjustments to IFRS (2015 – 2017 Cycle) IFRS 3 Business Combination, IFRS 11

Joint Arrangements, IAS 12 and IAS 23 Borrowing costs.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.2 New standards and amendments issued but not yet effective

• Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards.
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 on Definition of Material.
• Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3).
• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – Interest rate reform

The mandatory date for the adoption of standards is 1 January 2020, and early adoption is
permitted. The Company has elected not to early adopt the standards referred to, and the
Company’s management is currently assessing the impact of adopting standards and amendments
mentioned above.

5.3 Property, plant and equipment

5.3.1 Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalized borrowing
costs, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
calculated as separate item (key elements) of property, plant and equipment. Any gains or losses on
the disposal of any items of property, plant or equipment are recognized in statement of profit or
loss.

5.3.2 Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it entails future economic benefits as a result of
these expenditure.

5.3.3 Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated for the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values, if any using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives, and
depreciation is recognized in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the items of property, plant and equipment for the current and
comparative years are as follows:

Buildings 33 years
Machinery 10-13.3 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Tools and equipment 10 years
Furniture 10 years
Computers 5 years

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed in each reporting period
and adjusted if necessary.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.4 Intangible assets

5.4.1 Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets, including computer software acquired by the Company and with finite lives are
measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

5.4.2 Amortization

Amortization is calculated to reduce the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values,
if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and amortization is
recognized in profit or loss. The estimated useful lives are 10 years.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if necessary.

5.5 Borrowing costs
The Company capitalizes borrowing costs that are directly related to the acquisition, construction
or production of assets that are qualified to bear the borrowing cost as part of the cost of that assets.
All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

5.6 Financial instruments
The Company classifies non-derivative financial assets into: loans and borrowings and receivables.

The Company classifies non-derived financial liabilities in the following categories: Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss “FVTPL” and other financial liabilities.

5.6.1 Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities – recognition and derecognition

The Company initially recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it
neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not
retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognized financial assets that is
created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

The company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented
in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.6 Financial instruments (continued)

5.6.2 Non-derivative financial assets – Measurement

5.6.2.1 Trade receivables

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs. After initial recognition, these financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortized costs
using effective interest rate.

5.6.3 Non-derivative financial liabilities – Measurement

5.6.3.1 Other financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any direct transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

5.7 Impairment

5.7.1 Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets that are not classified at fair value through profit or loss at each reporting date are
reviewed to check whether there is an objective evidence of impairment:

Objective evidence of the impairment of financial assets includes the following:

• Default of the debtor,
• Reschedule the amount due from the Company on the condition that the Company would not

consider it otherwise,
• Indications that the borrower or the issuer would enter bankruptcy,
• Negative changes in the ability of repayment by the borrower or the issuer,
• Observable data that indicates the existence of a measurable decrease in estimated cash flows of

a group of financial assets.

5.7.2 Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts
of the assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.7 Impairment (continued)

5.7.2 Non-financial assets (continued)

5.7.2.1 Financial assets measured at amortized cost

The Company considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a
collective level. All individually significant assets are individually assessed for impairment. Those
found not to be impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred
but not yet individually identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively
assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is carried out by grouping together assets with
similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses historical information for the timing, recovery
and the amount of losses incurred, and adjusting current and credit economic conditions whether
there it is probable that the actual losses are greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and are reflected in an allowance
account. When the Company considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset,
the relevant amounts are written-off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreased and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized,
then the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through the statement of profit or loss.

5.8 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost is determined based
on the weighted average method and includes expenditure incurred in bringing inventories to their
existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost
includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realizable value and all losses of inventories shall be recognized as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising
from an increase in net realizable value, shall be recognized as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognized as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Goods are purchased with discounts granted by suppliers on the basis of total purchases over a 12-
month period. These discounts are recognized on the basis of achieving the agreed quantities in the
contracts per year.

5.9 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.10 Employees’ benefits

5.10.1 Short-term benefits obligations

Short-term benefits are those amounts expected to be settled wholly within 12 months at the end of
the year in which employees render services that give rise to the benefits.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating leaves and
benefits-in-kind that are expected to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the year
in which the employees render the related service are recognized in respect of employees’ services
up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.

5.10.2 Post-employment benefits obligations

The Company provides end-of-service benefits to its employees in accordance with the requirements
of articles 87 and 88 of the Labor Law in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The entitlement to these benefits,
using actuarial techniques is based upon the employees’ basic salary, allowances and length of
service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits
are recognized over the service period.

Employees’ benefit obligation plans are not funded. Accordingly, valuations of the obligations under
those plans are carried out by an independent Actuaries based on projected unit credit method and
the liability is recorded based on an actuarial valuation.

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of the employees’ end-of-
service benefits is the present value of the employees’ service benefits at the end of the reporting
period. The employees’ end-of-service benefits obligation is calculated quarterly by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the employees’ end-of-service benefits is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality bonds that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms of maturity approximating to the
terms of the end-of-service benefits obligation.

Past-service costs are recognized immediately in the statement of income.

The interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the balance of the defined benefit
obligation. This cost is included in finance costs in the statement of income. Actuarial gains and
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or
included in equity in the statement of other comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.

5.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at banks and investments with original maturity
of three months or less, which are available to the Company without any restrictions.

5.12 Zakat
Zakat is calculated in accordance with the Regulations of the General Authority of Zakat & Tax
(“GAZT”) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and on an accrual basis. The zakat expense is charged to
the statement of profit or loss. Differences, if any, resulting from the final assessments are adjusted
in the year of their finalization.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.13 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the
Company at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured based on
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss.

5.14 Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Company’s by-laws, the Company must set aside 10% of its annual net
income as a statutory reserve until it reaches 30% of the share capital. This reserve is not available
for distribution. The reserve allocation is computed on an annual basis.

5.15 Dividends
Dividends are recorded in the financial statements for the period that is approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The same applies to interim dividends, as they are recorded in the financial
statements for the period that is approved by the shareholders of the Company.

5.16 Earnings per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS). Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held, if any.

Diluted EPS, if any is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders
and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for
the effects of all dilutive potential common shares.

5.17 Investment properties
Investment Property is measured at cost, any gain or loss on disposal of investment property
(calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the
item) is recognized in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.

5.18 Revenue recognition

Type of Product Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligation, including
significant payment terms

Plastic preforms
and caps.

Revenue is recognized when customers obtain control of goods when the goods
are delivered to and have been accepted at their premises. Invoices are generated
and revenue is recognized at that point in time.

Some contracts allow customers to return goods and replace them with other new
goods, and no refunds are permitted.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.18 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Company recognizes revenue according to IFRS 15, using the following five-steps model:

Step 1: Identify the contract
with the customer.

A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties
that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the
criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 2: Identify the
performance obligations

A performance obligation is a contract with a customer to transfer
a good or service to the customer.

Step 3: Determine the
transaction price.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Step 4: Allocate the
transaction price.

For a contract that has more than one performance obligation, the
Company allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying
each performance obligation.

Step 5: Revenue recognition. The Company recognizes revenue (or as) it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the
customer under a contract.

5.19 Expenses
Selling and distribution expenses are costs arising from the Company’s efforts underlying
marketing activities and function. All other expenses are classified as administrative expenses.
Allocation of common expenses between cost of sales, selling and distribution and administrative
expenses, where required, is made on a reasonable basis with regards to the nature and
circumstances of the common expenses.

5.20 Segment reporting
An operating segment is a group of assets and processes that jointly engage in the rendering of
products or services subject to risks and rewards that differ from those of other business segments
and which are measured in accordance with the reports used by the executive management.

A geographical segment is a sector associated with providing products or services within a specific
economic environment that are exposed to risks and returns that are different from those related to
sectors operating in other economic environments. Segment reporting disclosure agree with the
information reviewed by the chief operating decision maker. The Company discloses information
on the applicable measurement bases, such as the nature and effect of any differences between
measurements used in the information on the sectors to report and those measurements used.
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Company carries all its investment properties at cost.

The investment properties consist of five plots of land in Al-Muzahmiyyah, with a total area of
27,226 square meters.

The fair value of the investment properties as at 31 December 2019 was SR 2.65 million.

The fair value of the investment properties was determined by an external real estate valuer
independent of the Company (The valuer: Badr Najm Al-Mutairi, License No. 1210000303).
The fair value of the investment properties is classified as Level 2 for the fair value based on the
inputs to the valuation method used.

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The additions during the year are SR 1.01 million, which represents the cost of an accounting system.
The accumulated amortization of intangible assets amounted to SR 126.3 thousand (31 December
2018: SR 27 thousand).

31 December 31 December
2019 2018

Cost:
Balance at 1 January 49,500 49,500
Additions 40,000 --
Transferred from work in progress 966,708 --
Balance at 31 December 1,056,208 49,500

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at 1 January 27,418 18,809
Additions 98,875 8,609
Balance at 31 December 126,293 27,418

Net book Value: 929,915 22,082

9. INVENTORIES
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Raw materials and consumables 25,032,435 19,037,719
Finished goods 18,365,270 13,582,052
Goods in transit -- 144,686

43,397,705 32,764,457
Less:
Allowance for slow moving inventory -- --

43,397,705 32,764,457

The movement in the provision for slow moving inventories is as follows:

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Balance at the beginning of the year -- 981,005
Formed during the year -- --
Utilized during the year -- (981,005)
Balance at the end of the year -- --
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10. TRADE RECEIVABLES
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Trade receivables 135,371,296 154,211,478
Due from the related parties (Note 26) 47,207,731 47,093,430

182,579,027 201,304,908
Less: Impairment of trade receivables (23,325,147) (23,325,147)

159,253,880 177,979,761

The movement in impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Balance at the beginning of the year 23,325,147 7,250,000
Impairment of trade receivables due to adoption of IFRS 9 -- 16,075,147
Formed during the year -- --
Balance at the end of the year 23,325,147 23,325,147

Information on the Company's exposure to credit and market risks including the ageing of trade
receivables is included in Note 25.2.

11. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Advances to suppliers 4,427,343 101,798
VAT, net 426,495 2,827,378
Prepaid expenses 1,019,642 2,004,666
Letter of guarantee (Note 17) 1,117,604 1,117,604
Suppliers - debit balances (*) 13,103,233 --
Other assets 79,163 123,500

20,173,480 6,174,946
* This balance represents the value of the discounts due for the year from the main supplier of the
Company (2018: SR 11.117.024 deduction from the credit balance of the supplier).

12. SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2019, the Company's authorized and fully paid up share capital amounted to SR
150 million (2018: SR 150 million), divided into 15 million ordinary shares (2018: 15 million
ordinary shares) of SR 10 per share (2018: SR 10 per share).

13. OTHER RESERVES

The balance represents the actuarial gains from re-measurement of employees’ benefits of SR 28,810
thousand (2018: SR 130,048 thousand).

14. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Accrued expenses - electricity 1,114,337 1,408,229
Accrued expenses - consultations 852,020 418,750
Provision for air ticket 292,222 227,071
Vacation provision 258,088 189,007
Advances from customers 616,849 17,073
Remunerations and allowances of the Company's Board of
Directors and Committees (Note 26)

574,000 256,000

Others 1,180,048 693,599
4,887,564 3,209,729
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15. BORROWINGS
a) Short-term loans

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Short-term loans (*) 113,175,031 110,652,414
113,175,031 110,652,414

(*) These loans are mainly used to finance the working capital requirements of the Company.
b) Long-term loans

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Local banks 57,966,231 72,941,048
Saudi Industrial Development Funds (SIDF) 76,016,000 84,396,000

133,982,231 157,337,048
Less: deferred interests (5,194,610) (9,577,876)

128,787,621 147,759,172
Presented in the statement of financial position as
follows:
Non-current portion shown under non-current liabilities 82,382,743 112,796,622
Current portion shown under current liabilities 46,404,878 34,962,550

128,787,621 147,759,172
Total loans 241,962,652 258,411,586

The Saudi Industrial Development Fund loan is secured against the lands, buildings and machines
of the Company’s plant with a book value of SR 115,457,708 as at 31 December 2019 (31
December 2018: SR 134,010,582) and is due for repayment over a period of 1 to 5 years (Note 6).

c) Total movement in borrowings
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Balance as at 1 January 258,411,586 202,041,978
Proceeds from loans 405,588,667 361,947,815
Loans Payments (428,500,022) (311,279,753)
Finance costs 13,274,151 13,864,802
Finance costs paid (6,811,730) (8,163,256)
Balance as at 31 December 241,962,652 258,411,586

d) Bank facility agreements
The Company obtained credit facilities from local banks, long term and short term loans and letters
of credit with a financing ceiling of SR 391.79 million. These facilities were obtained under
Murabaha and Tawarruq agreements to finance working capital and some expansions and capital
expenditure requirements. The unused facilities as at 31 December 2019 amount to SR 149.9
million (2018: SR 47.8 million). The credit facility agreements are secured by promissory notes
issued by the Company. The facilities carry financial charges according to the prevailing market
rates in SIBOR plus the margin as defined in the facility agreements range from _______________
(2018: 1.75% - 1.95%). The facility agreements include covenants that relate to, among other
things, restrictions on dividends, and they require a minimum net value and certain financial ratios
that must be maintained accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, financing agreements with some local banks were
renewed at values amounting to SR 351.85 million, with the aim of purchasing and importing raw
materials, financing working capital, and financing capital expansion. These agreements have been
renewed by guaranteeing promissory notes issued by the Company.

The Company obtained credit facilities from the Saudi Industrial Development Fund as at 31
December 2019 amounting to SR 4.01 million (31 December 2018: SR 76.12 million).
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15. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The borrowings include certain covenants. Breach of these covenants in the future may lead to
renegotiation. The management monitors covenants on a monthly basis, and in the event of a breach
expected in the future, the management takes the necessary measures to ensure compliance.

All of the borrowings mentioned above are borrowings that comply with the provisions of Islamic
Sharia.

16. EMPLOYEES’ BENEFITS

General description of a defined benefit plan for employees:
The Company is required to pay end of service benefits (defined benefit plan) in accordance with
Article 84 of the Saudi Labor Law. The benefit of the end of service benefit equals half the salary of
the last month of each of the first five years of service, including the fractions of the year, in addition
to the salary of the last month in full for each year of the remaining / subsequent service, including
fractions of the year.

Evaluation methodology and key assumptions for the actuarial study:
In compliance with the requirements of IAS 19 “Employees’ Benefits”, the projected unit credit
method has been used to determine plan liabilities. Under this method, the expected cost of the
benefit is calculated for each benefit to which the plan members who are on the job are entitled. The
expected cost of benefit and the length of service are adopted at the valuation date and the benefit is
calculated based on the last salary expected to be received by the employee at the retirement age.
The plan's liabilities are the current actuarial value of the accrued benefits expected to all employees
who are on their business at the date of valuation.

Key Assumptions
As per IAS19, the actuarial assumptions shall be unbiased and mutually compatible. The
assumptions are the Company’s best estimate of the variables that will determine the ultimate cost
of providing the end of service benefit. The principal assumptions used are:
The Company manages end of service benefits plans in accordance with the Saudi Arabian labor
law. The post-employment benefits plans are unfunded.

16.1 Movement in employees’ benefits obligation

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the
defined benefit liability:

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Balance at the beginning of the year 863,410 723,928
Included in statement of profit or loss
Current service cost 374,894 285,008
Interest cost 49,084 41,534
(Paid) during the year (55,931) (18,087)

368,047 308,455
Included in other comprehensive income
Actuarial valuation losses / (gains) 101,238 (168,973)
Balance at the end of the year 1,332,695 863,410
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16. EMPLOYEES’ BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

16.2 Actuarial assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted average) are as
follows:

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Discount rate 3.75% 5.20%
Future growth in salary 5.00% 5.50%
Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables.

16.3 Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably possible changes in the reporting date of one of the actuarial assumptions relevant to the
assumption that other assumptions are still in place may affect the defined benefit obligations in the
following amounts:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Discount rate (1 % movement) (1,170,014) 1,530,524 (759,857) 989,064
Future Salary Growth Rate (1% change) 1,525,898 (1,170,369) 987,374 (759,227)

Although the analysis does not take into account the full distribution of expected cash flows under
the plan, it provides a rough approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

17. PROVISION FOR ZAKAT

17-1 The Company filed its Zakat returns for all periods up to the year ended 31 December 2018 to the
General Authority for Zakat and Tax (“GAZT”) and paid Zakat liabilities accordingly. GAZT has
reviewed Zakat returns for the years from 2012 till 2016 which resulted in Zakat differences of SR
1.1 million in favor of GAZT. The company filed an appeal on such results and the management of
the company believes that the Company's position is strong. The Company's management has made
Zakat provision against this amount. The Company also issued a letter of guarantee against this
amount in the favor of GAZT until the end of the appeal in order to obtain temporary Zakat certificate
for facilitating its work.

17-2 Zakat provision for the current year is calculated as follows:
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Equity, opening provisions and other Adjustments 317,814,250 344,307,013
Book value of long term assets (241,592,632) (244,233,753)

76,221,618 100,073,260
Zakat profit for the year 60,941,702 39,469,700
Zakat base 137,163,320 139,542,960

17-3 Movement in Zakat provision during the year was as follows:
31 December

2019
31 December

2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 4,679,476 1,790,092
Formed during the year 3,488,308 3,488,574
Adjustments -- 963,750
Charged to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

3,488,308 4,452,324

Paid during the year (3,507,120) (1,562,940)
Balance at the end of the year 4,660,664 4,679,476
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18. COST OF SALES
For the year ended 31 December

2019 2018
Raw material cost 376,202,514 376,330,956
Depreciation 26,310,776 22,285,909
Electricity 14,003,871 13,107,020
Salaries and related costs 7,593,221 6,126,005
Others 7,186,807 5,626,431

431,297,189 423,476,321

19. SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES
For the year ended 31 December

2019 2018
Transportation expense 6,978,550 5,982,965
Selling commissions 153,407 229,675
Salaries and wages 652,477 477,192
Depreciation 28,809 37,684
Miscellaneous expenses 961,361 578,839

8,774,604 7,306,355

20. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
For the year ended 31 December

2019 2018
Professional and consultancy fees 1,060,973 1,327,761
Salaries and wages 3,482,736 2,581,460
Defective goods 97,189 494,610
Depreciation and amortization 653,538 250,628
Remunerations and allowances of the Company's Board of
Directors and Committees 931,000 731,000

Miscellaneous expenses 914,526 656,931
7,139,962 6,042,390

0.69 million of comparative figures have been reclassified from selling and distribution expenses to
general and administration expenses for the year 2018.

21. DIVIDENDS PAID

In its meeting held on 19 May 2019, the Extraordinary General Assembly approved the distribution
of cash dividends for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018, at an amount of one Saudi Riyal per
share and with a total amount of SR 15 million of the retained earnings, representing 10% of the
capital (2018: SR 15 million). In its meeting held on 21 November 2019, the Ordinary General
Assembly also approved the distribution of interim cash dividends for the first half of the fiscal year
ended 31 December 2019, at an amount of seventy-five halala per share and a total of SR 11.25
million of the income for the period, representing 7.5% of capital. Profits not received by
shareholders amounted to SR 132.7 thousand as at 31 December 2019 (2018: SR 42.3 thousand).

22. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
A contingent liability is disclosed where the existence of the obligation will only be confirmed by
future events or where the amount of obligations cannot be reasonably measured. Contingent assets
are not recognized but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
As 31 December 2019, contingent liabilities related to uncovered letter of credit amounted to SR
5.140.625 (31 December 2018: SR 29.376.260).
As at 31 December 2019, the capital commitments related to projects in progress amounted to SR
12,238,818, mainly represented in contracting a new production line (31 December 2018: SR
3,767,113).
The Company has commitments for the full value of the promissory notes with the full value of the
funds granted to the Company.
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23. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing income for the year attributable to the Company’s
ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year.

The diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share as the company has no
diluted instruments.

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Profit for the year 56,635,828 34,662,745
No. of shares
Weighted average number of shares (Note 12) 15,000,000 15,000,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (Saudi Riyals) 3.78 2.31

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATIONS AND FAIR VALUES

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits from the asset’s highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would utilize the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy. This is described as follows based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 —Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring
basis using level 1 or level 2 indicators, the company determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy as explained above.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
• Credit risk;
• liquidity risk; and
• Market risk

25.1 Risk management framework

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Company's risk management framework. The board of directors are responsible
for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies.

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risk faced by
the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Company’s activities. The company aims, through its training and management
standards and procedures, to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which
all employees recognize their roles and obligations.

Audit committee
The Company Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the
Company’s risk management policies and procedures, and review the adequacy of the risk
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company.

The risks faced by the Company and the way these risks are mitigated by management are
summarized below:

25.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers.
The fair value of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is mainly affected by the individual characteristics of each
customer. However, management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its
customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate.

The Board of Directors established a credit policy according to which each new customer is
evaluated individually for creditworthiness before contracting him and accepting him as a customer
with the Company. The Company’s review includes external ratings, if they are available, and in
some cases of bank references.

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by establishing a maximum
payment period of 120 days per year for customers.

The Company has an allowance for impairment that represents the best estimate of incurred losses
in respect of trade receivables (Note 10).

There are assets amounting to SR 197.7 million (31 December 2018: SR 194.6 million) out of the
total assets amounting to SR 489.7 million (31 December 2018: SR 477.8 million) subject to credit
risk. The significant concentrations of the Company's risks by sector and geographical region are
assessed in Notes 25.2.1 and 27.2.

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Trade receivables 159,253,880 177,979,761
Cash and cash equivalents 25,376,554 16,620,422
Suppliers – debit balances (Note 11) 13,103,233 --

197,733,667 194,600,183
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

25.2 Credit risk (continued)

25.2.1Credit quality of financial assets

As at 31 December 2019, the trade receivables balances include a balance of SR 61.6 million (31
December 2018: SR 69.8 million) for two of the Company's customers.

At 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of trade receivables was as follows:

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Current (not past due) 100,151,212 118,407,498
1-90 days 47,089,264 38,635,202
91–180 days 9,289,233 21,349,287
181-270 days 8,471,549 6,868,916
271-360 days 3,836,217 1,941,416
More than 360 days 13,741,552 14,102,589
Balance 182,579,027 201,304,908

Management believes that the amounts that have not been impaired and that are past due for more
than 90 days are still fully collectible based on the previous payment behavior and comprehensive
analysis of the customer's credit risk, including the customer's underlying credit ratings, if available.
The Company establishes a provision for all balances past due for more than 270 days (2018: 360
days). The allowance for doubtful debts amounted to SR 23,325,147 as at 31 December 2019 (Note
10) (2018: SR 23.325.147).

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents of SR 25.4 million as of 31 December 2019 (31
December 2018: SR 16.2 million) with banks having sound credit rating. The Company's
management has invested SR 20 million of cash available in an Islamic deposit with a local bank.

25.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stress conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company's reputation.

The Company aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount in excess of
expected cash outflows on financial liabilities (other than trade payables) over the next 90 days. The
Company also monitors the level of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables, with
expected outflows of cash on trade and other payables.

The Company has unused bank facilities amounting to SR 149.9 million (31 December 2018: SR
47.8 million) as at the date of the statement of financial position date to meet liquidity requirements
(Note 15).
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

25.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

The following is an analysis of the undiscounted contractual maturities of the Company's financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

31 December
2019

Less than one
year

from one
year to
3 years

from 3 to
5 years

Accrued
interests for

future
periods

Total
contractual
agreements

Carrying
Value

Non derivative
financial
liabilities
Borrowings 159,579,909 71,752,743 10,630,000 5,194,610 247,157,262 241,962,652
Trade Payables 13,634,608 -- -- -- 13,634,608 13,634,608
Accrued
expenses and
other payables

4,887,564 -- -- -- 4,887,564 4,887,564

178,102,081 71,752,743 10,630,000 5,194,610 265,679,434 260,484,824

31 December
2018

Less than one
year

from one
year to
3 years

from 3 to
5 Years

Accrued
interests for

future
periods

Total
contractual
agreements

Carrying
value

Non derivative
financial
liabilities
Borrowings 145,614,963 74,354,969 38,441,654 9,577,876 267,989,462 258,411,586
Trade payables 17,668,092 -- -- -- 17,668,092 17,668,092
Accrued
expenses and
other payables

3,209,729 -- -- -- 3,209,729 3,209,729

166,492,784 74,354,969 38,441,654 9,577,876 288,867,283 279,289,407

The Company has no significant liquidity risks.

25.4 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
Market risk comprises of three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

25.4.1 Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates. The Company is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates during
the normal course of business, as the Company's main transactions are in Saudi riyals and US dollars.
Since the Saudi Riyal is pegged against the US Dollar, there are no significant risks associated with
transactions and balances denominated in US Dollars.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

25.4.2 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Company's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings approved at variable
interest rates expose the Company to interest rate risk on cash flows.

Increase / decrease in
base points related to

commission rates
Effect on income

of the year
31 December 2019 SR +100 (2,419,627)

SR -100 2,419,627
31 December 2018 SR +100 (2,584,116)

SR -100 2,584,116

25.4.3 Capital management
The Board of Directors’ policy is to maintain a sufficient capital base to maintain investor, creditor
and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors
monitors the capital on the basis of debt ratio. This ratio is calculated based on (adjusted net debt)
divided by (adjusted equity and adjusted net debt). Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(including “short and long term” bank borrowings as shown in the statement of financial position)
less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted equity is calculated as "equity" as described in the statement
of financial position plus adjusted net debt.

The Company’s strategy was to keep an appropriate adjusted debt-to-adjusted equity ratio.
The debt ratios at 31 December were as follows:

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Total loans 241,962,652 258,411,586
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (25,376,554) (16,620,422)
Adjusted net debt (a) 216,586,098 241,791,164
Total equity 223,183,368 192,898,778
Adjusted equity and net debt (b) 439,769,466 434,689,942
Adjusted debt ratio to adjusted equity (a) / (b) 49% 56%

When managing the capital, the Company aims to protect the Company's ability to continue as going
concern as it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and other stakeholders.
The Company manages capital structure in the context of economic circumstances and the
characteristics of the risks of principal assets. In order to maintain or adjust capital structure, the
Company may adjust dividends paid for shareholders and issue new shares.
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

26.1 In the ordinary course of its activities, the Company transacts business with related parties including
companies owned by some shareholders, Board of directors and key management personnel of the
Company. Related party transactions entered during the year and related balances as included in the
statement of financial position are as follows:

For the year
ended 31

December
2019

For the year
ended

31 December
2018

Transactions:
Sales of goods to Hana Water company 95,730,068 98,669,907
Purchases of goods from Hana Water Company 1,773,334 6,451,705
Transfer services, Homod’s Sons company -- 285,132
Riyadh bank 2,997,671 --
Annual salaries, allowances and remuneration for Key
Management Personnel 2,758,865 2,131,930
Allowance to attend meeting of the Company's Board of
Directors and Committees 189,000 261,000
Board member remuneration 742,000 470,000
Balances
Due from related parties included in trade receivables (Hana
Water Company) (Note 10) 47,207,731 47,093,430
Riyadh bank 2,619 --
Key Management Personnel included in other receivables 86,301 125,301
Key management personnel included under other payables 71,000 49,000
Key Management Personnel End of Service Benefits 433,617 303,775
Allowance to attend meeting of the Company's Board of
Directors and Committees included under accrued expense
(Note 14)

144,000 126,000

Board of Directors remuneration included under accrued
expenses (Note 14) 430,000 130,000

27. SEGMENT INFORMATION

27.1 Basis for segmentation
The Company has the following strategic sectors, which are its operational sectors. These sectors
offer different products and services, are managed separately because they require different
technology and marketing strategies.

The following summary describes the operations of each reporting segment.

Industry Group Nature of segment's businesses
Plastic bottles preforms The principal activity includes manufacturing and selling of

plastic preforms.
Plastic caps The principal activity includes manufacturing and selling of

plastic caps.

The Company’s chief executive officer reviews the internal management reports of each division
on monthly basis.
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27. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

27.2 Information about reporting segments
Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. Segment profit (loss) before Zakat
is used to measure performance because management believes that this information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of the respective segments relative to other entities that operate in
the same industries:

Segment reporting
Plastic bottles

preforms
segment

Plastic caps
segment Total

31 December 2019

Sales 442,757,824 76,999,711 519,757,535
Cost of sales (384,871,435) (46,425,754) (431,297,189)
Gross profit 57,886,389 30,573,957 88,460,346

Other income 388,639 463,868 852,507
Selling and distribution expenses (6,829,750) (1,944,854) (8,774,604)
General and administrative expenses (6,323,570) (816,392) (7,139,962)
Operating profit 45,121,708 28,276,579 73,398,287

Finance costs (11,821,693) (1,452,458) (13,274,151)
Income before zakat 33,300,015 26,824,121 60,124,136

As at 31 December 2019
Segments Net assets 114,364,400 46,142,952 160,507,352

31 December 2018

Sales 419,257,351 69,254,863 488,512,214
Cost of sales (379,262,178) (44,214,143) (423,476,321)
Gross profit 39,995,173 25,040,720 65,035,893
Other income 1,155,030 137,693 1,292,723
Selling and distribution expenses (5,667,565) (1,638,790) (7,306,355)
General and administrative expenses (5,371,799) (670,591) (6,042,390)
Operating profit 30,110,839 22,869,032 52,979,871
Finance costs (12,388,005) (1,476,797) (13,864,802)
Income before zakat 17.722.834 21,392,235 39,115,069

As at 31 December 2018
Segments Net assets 109,372,908 52,129,567 161,502,475
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27. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

27.2 Information about reporting segments (Continued)

Company’s sales in the local market and export sales are allocated as follows:

Revenue for the year ended Local Sales Export Sales Total Sales
31 December 2019 396,056,298 123,701,237 519,757,535
31 December 2018 398,698,653 89,813,561 488,512,214

Export sales are as follows:

Revenue for the year ended 2019 2018
Yemen 106,313,178 74,178,364
Oman 9,184,124 4,903,563
Bahrain 5,040,904 5,661,815
Sudan 1,819,267 1,455,839
Kuwait 1,155,284 1,055,100
United Arab Emirates -- 2,111,532
Jordan 188,480 290,697
Others -- 156,651
Total export sales 123,701,237 89,813,561

27.3 The main customer and supplier

As at 31 December 2019, sales from the main two customers of the Company represent 40% of the
Company’s total revenue in the amount of SR 208.2 million (31 December 2018: 39% in the amount
of SR 190.1 million) of the Company’s total sales.

As at 31 December 2019, purchases from the main supplier of the Company represent 94% of total
purchases of raw materials in the amount of SR 382.3 million (31 December 2018: 91% in the
amount of SR 358.3 million) of the Company’s total purchases.

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board of Directors, at its meeting held on 26 February 2020 (corresponding to 2 Rajab 1441H),
recommended distributing cash dividends amounting to SR 11.25 million for the second half of the
fiscal year 2019 at SR 0.75 per share. To be disbursed to the registered shareholders at the end of the
second trading day following the date of holding General Assembly of the shareholders of the
company, for which its timing will be announced subsequently after obtaining the necessary
approvals from the related authorities.
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